CRISPR-CAS, A PROKARYOTIC ADAPTIVE IMMUNE SYSTEM, IN ENDODONTIC, ORAL AND MULTIDRUG-RESISTANT HOSPITAL-ACQUIRED ENTEROCOCCUS FAECALIS

by

Katie M. Burley, BSDH, DMD

THESIS

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Endodontology

at

OREGON HEALTH & SCIENCE UNIVERSITY SCHOOL OF DENTISTRY

June 2013

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by a Research Grant from the American Association of Endodontists Foundation and the OHSU Department of Endodontology Les Morgan Endodontic Endowment Fund. I thank them for their generosity. I would like to thank the members of my committee, Drs Timothy Svec, Agnieszka Balkowiec, and Curt Machida for their time, attention, and support throughout this process. I also would like to express my deep gratitude to my mentor, and committee chair, Dr. Christine Sedgley. She is a fantastic teacher with a heart for learning and a passion for science. She is an incredible woman, and I consider myself lucky to have been under her mentorship. And most importantly, I could not conclude without thanking my husband, Jarid Burley. He is a remarkable man and has been my constant support and source of encouragement. Jarid is worthy of the upmost respect and he makes everything in life better.

<u>Abstract</u>

Introduction: Microorganisms are vulnerable to invasion by mobile genetic elements such as viruses, plasmids and transposons. The recently discovered CRISPR (Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats)-associated system (CRISPR-Cas) is an adaptive immunity system found in most archaea and many bacteria that targets and inactivates invading foreign genetic elements. Cells with CRISPR-Cas are more likely to resist the invasion and uptake of foreign DNA such as viruses, plasmids and transposons. Several CRISPR-Cas systems have been identified in prokaryotes, including CRISPR1-*cas* and CRISPR3-*cas* in *E. faecalis* isolates recovered from human, animal, insect and environmental sources. The aims of this study were to: (1) compare the occurrence of CRISPR-*cas* in collections of endodontic (n=34), oral (n=21), and multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired strains of *E. faecalis* (n=23); (2) evaluate the distribution of antibiotic resistance and virulence traits amongst strains without CRISPR-*cas*; and (3) evaluate the co-occurrence of expression of virulence traits and a corresponding gene determinant in multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired *E. faecalis*.

Methods and Materials: *E. faecalis* strains were screened for CRISPR1-*cas* and CRISPR3*cas* by using PCR, and products were verified by DNA sequencing. Associations were investigated between the occurrence of CRISPR-*cas* and the expression of phenotypic traits (antibiotic resistance, gelatinase activity, bacteriocin production, hemolysin activity, and clumping response to pheromone). Multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired *E. faecalis* strains that express certain virulence traits were screened for the co-occurrence of a corresponding gene. Two-tailed Fisher's exact tests were used to (1) compare the occurrence of CRISPR*cas* in endodontic, oral and multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired isolates, and (2) evaluate the distribution of antibiotic resistance, gelatinase activity, bacteriocin production, hemolysin activity, and clumping response to pheromone among strains without CRISPR-*cas*. Significance was set at P < 0.05.

Results: CRISPR-*cas* determinants were present in proportionally more endodontic (25 of 34) and oral (15 of 21) strains than multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired (9 of 23) strains (P=0.01 and 0.04, respectively). Significant associations were found between the absence of CRISPR-*cas* and the presence of antibiotic resistance in strains overall (P=0.04) and bacteriocin activity in endodontic strains (P=0.01). The majority of strains expressing virulence traits also carried the corresponding gene determinants.

Conclusions: The present study is the first to investigate CRISPR-*cas* in isolates recovered from infected root canals. Evidence for the presence of CRISPR-*cas* in the majority of endodontic and oral *E. faecalis* strains raises intriguing questions as to how prokaryotic immune systems might modulate interactions within the polymicrobial endodontic biofilm environment, particularly in response to antimicrobial agents used in root canal treatment. Understanding this process could lead to improved therapeutic strategies in the future.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction and Review of the Literature	9
Aims of the Study	12
Chapter 2: Materials and Methods	15
2.1 Bacterial strains and phenotypic characterization	15
2.2 Total DNA extraction, PCR amplification and sequencing	21
2.3 Genotypic characterization	23
2.4 Statistical analysis	23
Chapter 3: Results	
3.1 Occurrence of CRISPR-cas	25
3.2 Virulence traits and antibiotic resistance	25
3.3 Genotypic characterization of multidrug-resistant hospital acquired E. faecalis	26
Chapter 4: Discussion	
Chapter 5: Summary and Conclusions	
References	41
Appendices	46
Master of Science in Endodontology Data Sheet	

List of Tables

Table 1. Enterococcus faecalis strains used in this study 16
Table 2. Oligoneucleotides used in this study. 17
Table 3. Occurrence of CRISPR-cas in E. faecalis 27
Table 4. CRISPR1- <i>cas</i> and/or CRISPR3- <i>cas</i> in endodontic, oral and multidrug-resistant
hospital-acquired strains of <i>E. faecalis</i>
Table 5. Phenotypic characteristics of multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired <i>E. faecalis</i> 30
Table 6. Associations between phenotypic characteristics and the occurrence of CRISPR-cas
in <i>E. faecalis</i> (n=78)
Table 7. Associations between phenotypic characteristics and CRISPR1-cas, CRISPR3-cas,
or either CRISPR1-cas or CRISPR3-cas in E. faecalis from different sources
Table 8. Phenotypic characteristics and presence of virulence gene determinants of
multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired isolates of <i>E. faecalis</i> (n=23)

List of Figures

Figure 1. The three phases of the CRISPR-Cas invader defense pathway
Figure 2. Overview of the CRISPR-Cas mechanism of action
Figure 3. Example of Enterococcocel agar test to confirm expected colony formation, cell morphology and esculin hydrolysis
Figure 4. Example of Gram staining of Gram positive cocci <i>E. faecalis</i>
Figure 5. Example of E-tests demonstrating control strains, <i>E. faecalis</i> V583 and OG1RF, as vancomycin resistant and susceptible, respectively
Figure 6. Example of gelatinase activity assay
Figure 7. Example of growth inhibition of lawn strain by bacteriocin producer strain (center stab colony)
Figure 8. Example of hemolysin activity assay
Figure 9. Example of positive clumping response in the pheromone response assay
Figure 10. Representative image showing gel analysis of PCR amplification products with <i>E. faecalis</i> -derived 16S rRNA gene primers
Figure 11. Example of DNA sequencing as viewed with 4Peaks software
Figure 12. Occurrence of CRISPR1- <i>cas</i> versus CRISPR3- <i>cas</i> in endodontic strains of <i>E. faecalis</i>
Figure 13. Occurrence of CRISPR1-cas versus CRISPR3-cas in oral strains of E. faecalis . 29
Figure 14. Occurrence of CRISPR1- <i>cas</i> versus CRISPR3- <i>cas</i> in multidrug-resistant hospital- acquired oral strains of <i>E. faecalis</i>
Figure 15. Genotypic and phenotypic co-occurrence of virulence traits in multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired <i>E. faecalis</i>

List of Appendices

Appendix 1. Results of Clustal W2 sequence alignments for CRISPR1-cas in oral strains 4	6
Appendix 2. Results of Clustal W2 sequence alignments for CRISPR1-cas in endodontic	
strains4	7
Appendix 3. Results of Clustal W2 sequence alignments for CRISPR1-cas in multidrug-	
resistant hospital-acquired strains4	8
Appendix 4. Results of Clustal W2 sequence alignments for CRISPR3-cas in oral strains 49	9
Appendix 5. Results of Clustal W2 sequence alignments for CRISPR3-cas in endodontic	
strains	0
Appendix 6. Results of Clustal W2 sequence alignments for CRISPR3-cas in multidrug-	
resistant hospital-acquired strains5	1
Appendix 7. Journal of Endodontics publication	2

Chapter 1: Introduction and Review of the Literature

Enterococcus faecalis are facultative Gram-positive cocci that are widely distributed in nature, animals and humans. E. faecalis are frequently recovered from primary root canal infections (1-3), previously treated root canals (3-6) and occasionally from the oral cavity (6-8) from where they might enter an unsealed root canal system (9). In a microbiological profile of unexposed and exposed pulp space of necrotic teeth E. faecalis have been identified in both by DNA-DNA hybridization (10). While *E. faecalis* can survive for extended periods in the nutrient-deprived obturated root canal system (11, 12), whether intracanal E. faecalis can "cause" periradicular infections is not clear. In an effort related to this question, studies have shown that different *E. faecalis* strains recovered from infected root canals can express different virulence factors, as well as exhibit the presence of homologous virulence determinants (13, 14). In addition, a recent study showed that antibiotic resistance genes can transfer between E. faecalis and Streptococcus gordonii in root canals ex vivo (15). These data suggest a capacity for the species to modulate virulence expression and antibiotic resistance acquisition under varying environmental conditions in the root canal system (16), and may help to explain why E. faecalis are recovered from both symptomatic and asymptomatic cases (4, 17-19).

In contradistinction, the importance of the host's immunity in response to bacterial challenge is well established. For example, small numbers of virulent microorganisms may be sufficient to cause disease in an immunocompromised host (20). In a novel twist, the "health" of a microorganism is also dependent on the presence of its own protective "immune" system. Specifically, the recently discovered <u>Clustered Regularly Interspaced</u> <u>Short Palindromic Repeats (CRISPRs) and genes encoding CRISPR-associated (Cas)</u> proteins, or CRISPR-Cas module, is a prokaryotic immune system widespread among archaea and bacteria that confers resistance to exogenous mobile genetic elements, such as

viruses (phages), plasmids and transposons (21-23). For example, a viral challenge to bacteria with CRISPR-*cas* can integrate new spacers derived from the phage genomic sequence into their own genome (21).

CRISPR-Cas systems are primarily located on the chromosome, but can also be found on plasmids. While considerable diversity exists between the many different CRISPR-Cas systems, they are characterized by a CRISPR locus made up of a varying number of repeating segments (23-25). Each repeating segment has the necessary DNA sequence required to target a different invader.

CRISPR-Cas systems function over three stages: adaptation, expression and interference (23). During the first stage CRISPR-Cas proteins incorporate a small fragment (termed a "spacer") of a foreign genetic element into the repeating CRISPR locus (22). The addition of new spacers in response to phage invasion tends to be polarized to the leader end of the CRISPR locus causing this end to be hypervariable (21). In the second stage an RNA transcript of the CRISPR locus is processed to form small CRISPR RNAs (crRNAs) each of which can identify a specific target for silencing. At the third stage, upon re-exposure to the specific foreign genetic element, the crRNA and CRISPR-Cas proteins target and cleave or silence the invading DNA or RNA (22, 23) (Figure 1). The presence of a CRISPR spacer identical to a phage sequence thus provides resistance to phages containing this particular sequence (21). This allows organisms with the CRISPR system to capture and store fragments of invader sequence and give rise to small RNAs that impart a heritable immunity against invaders (22, 26) (Figure 2).

Although there are some similarities with the eukaryotic systems for adaptive immunity (adaptation, memory) and RNA-based control (small guide RNA), the prokaryotic CRISPR–Cas system is substantially different. There is no sequence homology of the key proteins, and DNA rather than RNA is the prime candidate for target interference. Even now, as many details remain to be discovered, it has become clear that the CRISPR–Cas

system is a specific, dynamic and inheritable protection system in prokaryotes (27).

Several CRISPR-Cas systems have been identified in prokaryotes, including CRISPR1-*cas* and CRISPR3-*cas* in *E. faecalis* isolates recovered from human, animal, insect and environmental sources (28-30). Two CRISPR loci were first identified in the *E. faecalis* OG1RF genome; CRISPR1-*cas* which has the associated *cas* gene, and CRISPR2 which is an orphan locus lacking the functional *cas* genes (28). Subsequently CRISPR3-*cas* was identified in two strains (30), a fruit fly isolate Fly1 (31) and a urine isolate (30). CRISPR*cas* has since been identified in one-third of 48 *E. faecalis* strains recovered from a variety of sources (e.g. milk, clinical, different animals, endocarditis, blood, fecal, urine), all but one being CRISPR1-*cas* (30), and in 18 of 52 *E. faecalis* strains recovered from (predominantly) clinical, food and environmental sources, all but two being CRISPR1-*cas* (29). Recently, the absence of CRISPR-*cas* in *E. faecalis* was positively correlated with acquired multidrug resistance genes (30), which are often found on mobile genetic elements such as plasmids (8, 32).

The occurrence of CRISPR-*cas* in the endodontic and oral microflora has not been previously evaluated. The first aim of this study was to compare the occurrence of CRISPR-*cas* in collections of endodontic and oral strains and multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired strains of *E. faecalis*; the null hypothesis tested was that there is no difference in occurrence between groups. Because the absence of CRISPR-*cas* could indicate previous uptake of foreign DNA (eg, via horizontal transfer of plasmids encoding virulence and/or antibiotic resistance genes), the second aim was to evaluate the distribution of virulence traits and antibiotic resistance among strains without CRISPR-*cas*. The third aim of the study was to evaluate whether multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired *E. faecalis* that express certain virulence traits also possess a corresponding gene determinant.

Aims of the Study

- The first aim of this study was to compare the occurrence of CRISPR-*cas* in collections of endodontic and oral strains, and multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired strains of *E*. *faecalis*; the null hypothesis tested was that there is no difference in occurrence between groups.
- 2. The second aim was to evaluate the distribution of virulence traits and antibiotic resistance among strains without CRISPR-*cas*.
- The third aim of the study was to evaluate whether multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired *E. faecalis* that express certain virulence traits also possess a corresponding gene determinant.

Figure 1. The three phases of the CRISPR-Cas invader defense pathway.

Reprinted from Current Opinion in Microbiology, Vol. 14, Terns MP and Terns RM, CRISPR-based adaptive immune systems. Pages 321-327, 2011, with permission from Elsevier (22).



Overview of the CRISPR-Cas invader defense pathway. In the adaptation phase, a short fragment of foreign DNA (protospacer) is acquired from the invader and integrated into the host CRISPR locus adjacent to the leader. Protospacer adjacent motifs (PAMs) are found near invader sequences selected for CRISPR integration. The CRISPR locus consists of short direct repeat sequences (black) that separate similarly sized, invader-derived sequences (multiple colors). In the biogenesis phase of the pathway, CRISPR locus transcripts are processed to release individual mature crRNAs (each targeting a different sequence). Mature crRNAs typically retain some of the repeat sequence, which is thought to provide a recognizable signature of the crRNAs. In the silencing phase, crRNA-Cas protein effector complexes recognize foreign DNA or RNA through basepairing of the crRNA. The Cmr and Csn systems affect cleavage of target RNA and DNA, respectively. PAMs provide important auxiliary signals for the recognition of invaders for some DNA-targeting systems.

Figure 2. Overview of the CRISPR-Cas mechanism of action. Reprinted with permission from AAAS (26).



Fig. 2. Overview of the CRISPR/Cas mechanism of action. (**A**) Immunization process: After insertion of exogenous DNA from viruses or plasmids, a Cas complex recognizes foreign DNA and integrates a novel repeat-spacer unit at the leader end of the CRISPR locus. (**B**) Immunity process: The CRISPR repeat-spacer array is transcribed into a pre-crRNA that is processed into mature crRNAs, which are subsequently used as a guide by a Cas complex to interfere with the corresponding invading nucleic acid. Repeats are represented as diamonds, spacers as rectangles, and the CRISPR leader is labeled L.

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods

2.1 Bacterial strains and phenotypic characterization

E. faecalis strains and their sources are listed in Table 1. Strains were taken from minus 80°C stocks and plated onto Todd Hewitt Broth (THB, Becton, Dickinson and Co., Sparks, MD) supplemented with 1.5% agar and incubated aerobically at 37°C for 24 hours. For each strain, expected colony formation, cell morphology, esculin hydrolysis (Figure 3) and Gram stain reaction (Figure 4) were confirmed. 16S rRNA PCR assays were performed for all strains to verify species-specific amplification as previously described (7) (Table 2). Multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired strains (n=23)(33) were screened for antibiotic resistance by using the E-test (bioMérieux, Inc., Durham, NC) (Figure 5), gelatinase activity (Figure 6), bacteriocin production (Figure 7), hemolysin activity (Figure 8), and clumping response to pheromone (Figure 9) using methods previously described (13); endodontic (n=34) and oral (n=21) strains had been previously screened for these traits (7, 8, 13, 34).

Table 1. Enterococcus faecalis strains used in this study

Source	Strain name	Reference
Endodontic (n=34) Primary treatment Orthograde retreatment Endodontic treatment	GS3, GS6, GS7, GS8, GS13, GS18, GS19, GS22, GS24, GS27, GS28, GS31, GS32 GS1, GS2, GS12, GS16, GS25, GS33 ER3/2s, ER5/1 GS4, GS5, GS9, GS10, GS14, GS15, GS17, GS21, GS23, GS26, GS29, GS30 JG2	(13) (35) (13) (36)
Oral (n=21) Tongue swab-endodontic patient Oral rinse-dental student Oral rinse-endodontic patient	AA-T4, AA-T26 GS-34 C1 E1, E2, E3, E4, E5, E6, E7, E8, E10, E11 OS16, OS25 AA-OR3, AA-OR4, AA-OR26, AA-OR34 OG1	(34) (35) (8) (8) (7) (34) (37)
Hospital–acquired (n=23)	HNEfs #1 - #20 DS16 MMH594 V583*	(33) (32) (38) (39)
Other	OG1RF* Fly-1*	(40) (31)

*V583 lacks CRISPR1-*cas* and CRISPR3-*cas*; OG1RF encodes CRISPR1-*cas*; #Fly-1 encodes CRISPR3-*cas* (30).

Table 2. Oligoneucleotides used in this study.

Gene		Sequence	Product size (bp)	Reference
<i>E. faecalis</i> 16S rRNA	Ef16SF	5' - CCGAGTGCTTGCACTCAATTGG - 3'		
	Ef16SR	5' - CTCTTATGCCATGCGGCATAAAC - 3'	138	(7)
CRISPR1-cas	cas1-F	5'- ATGGGCTGGCGAACGGTAGTGGTTA - 3'		
	cas1-R	5'- TCATATCCCAAACTCTGGAACTCCT-3'	867	(30)
CRISPR1-cas loci	neg1cas1F neg1cas1 R	5'-GCG ATG TTA GCT GAT ACA AC-3' 5'-CGA ATA TGC CTG TGG TGA AA-3'	315	(30)
CRISPR3-cas	3csnF 3csnR	5'-GCT GAA TCT GTG AAG TTA CTC-3' 5'-CTG TTT TGT TCA CCG TTG GAT-3'	258	(30)
CRISPR3-cas loci	neg3casF neg3casR	5′-GAT CAC TAG GTT CAG TTA TTT C-3' 5'-CAT CGA TTC ATT ATT CCT CCA A-3'	224	(30)
Gelatinase <i>gelE</i>	gelEF gelER	5' - ACCCCGTATCATTGGTTT - 3' 5' - ACGCATTGCTTTTCCATC - 3'	405	(41)
ef1841/fsrC	ef1841F fsrC7R	5' - GATCAAGAAGGGAAGCCACC - 3' 5' - CCAACCGTGCTCTTCTGGA - 3'	1050	(42)
fsrC internal	fsrC6F fsrC7R	5' - ATGATTTTGTCGTTATTAGCTACT - 3' 5' - CCAACCGTGCTCTTCTGGA - 3'	~1300	(42)
Bacteriocin/Hemo -lysin cylA	cylAF cylAR	5' - GACTCGGGGGATTGATAGGC - 3' 5' - GCTGCTAAAGCTGCGCTTAC - 3'	688	(43)
Pheromone response <i>asa</i>	asaF asaR	5' - CCAGCCAACTATGGCGGAATC - 3' 5' - CCTGTCGCAAGATCGACTGTA - 3'	529	(43)
Adherence factor esp	espF espR	5' - TTGCTAATGCTAGTCCACGACC - 3' 5' - GCGTCAACACTTGCATTGCCGA - 3'	932	(38)

Figure 3. Example of Enterococcocel agar test to confirm expected colony formation, cell morphology and esculin hydrolysis.



Figure 4. Example of Gram staining of Gram positive cocci E. faecalis.



Figure 5. Example of E-tests demonstrating control strains, *E. faecalis* V583 and OG1RF, as vancomycin resistant and susceptible, respectively.



Figure 6. Example of gelatinase activity assay.



Figure 7. Example of growth inhibition of lawn strain by bacteriocin producer strain (center stab colony).



Figure 8. Example of hemolysin activity assay.



Figure 9. Example of positive clumping response in the pheromone response assay.



2.2 Total DNA extraction, PCR amplification and sequencing

Table 2 lists oligonucleotides used in this study. Total DNA was isolated as previously described (7), and re-suspended in sterile nuclease-free water to a final stock concentration of 50 ng/ μ L. Primer sequences for E. faecalis CRISPR1-cas cas1 were: For-5'-ATG GGC TGG CGA ACG GTA GTG GTT A-3', Rev-5'-TCA TAT CCC AAA CTC TGG AAC TCC T-3' for an expected 867 base-pair product. Primer sequences for CRISPR3-cas csn1 were: For-5'-GCT GAA TCT GTG AAG TTA CTC-3', Rev-5'-CTG TTT TGT TCA CCG TTG GAT-3' for an expected 258 base-pair product (30). To verify the absence of false negative PCR results, those strains without CRISPR1-cas PCR products were screened using primers that anneal outside the CRISPR1-cas loci: For-5'-GCG ATG TTA GCT GAT ACA AC-3', Rev-5'-CGA ATA TGC CTG TGG TGA AA-3' for an expected 315 base-pair product; those strains without CRISPR3-cas PCR products were screened using primers that flank the CRISPR3-cas loci: For-5'-GAT CAC TAG GTT CAG TTA TTT C-3', Rev-5'-CAT CGA TTC ATT ATT CCT CCA A-3' for an expected product size of 224 bp (30). Control strains used for PCR screening were E. faecalis OG1RF (CRISPR1-cas present), Fly-1 (CRISPR3-cas present) and V583 (CRISPR1-cas and CRISPR3-cas absent) (30).

Primer sequences for *E. faecalis* virulence gene gelatinase (*gelE*) were: For-5'-ACC CCG TAT CAT TGG TTT-3', Rev-5'-ACG CAT TGC TTT TCC ATC - 3' for an expected 405 base-pair product (41). If a particular strain did not demonstrate gelatinase activity but did contain the gene those strains were further screened to determine if the existing gene may be defective by using primer sequences for *E. faecalis* ef1841F: For-5'-GAT CAA GAA GGG AAG CCA CC-3' and fsrC7R: Rev-5'-CCA ACC GTG CTC TTC TGG A-3' for an expected 1050 base-pair product size (42). The strains that were not positive for ef1841F/fsrC7R were further screened for *fsrC* internal using primer sequences for *E. faecalis* fsrC6F: For-5'-ATG ATT TTG TCG TTA TTA GCT ACT-3', and fsrC7R: Rev-5'-

CCA ACC GTG CTC TTC TGG A-3' for an expected approximately 1300 base-pair product size (42). Primer sequences for *E. faecalis* virulence gene hemolysin (*cylA*) were cylAF: For-5'-GAC TCG GGG ATT GAT AGG C-3' and cylAR: Rev-5'-GCT GCT AAA GCT GCG CTT AC-3' for an expected 688 base-pair product size (43). Primer sequences for *E. faecalis* for pheromone response (asa) were: asaF: For-5'-CCA GCC AAC TAT GGC GGA ATC-3' and asaR: Rev-5'-CCT GTC GCA AGA TCG ACT GTA-3' for an expected 529 base-pair product size (43). Primer sequences for *E. faecalis* for adherence factor (*esp*) were espF: For-5'-TTG CTA ATG CTA GTC CAC GAC C-3' and espR: Rev-5'-GCG TCA ACA CTT GCA TTG CCG A-3' for an expected 932 base-pair product size (38).

PCR amplifications used an Eppendorf Mastercycler (Brinkmann Instruments, Inc., Westbury, NY). 100 ng total DNA template were prepared for 50 μ L PCR amplifications as follows: 45 μ L Platinum PCR SuperMix (High Fidelity) (Invitrogen) with primers (10 μ M final concentration) and template DNA to a final volume of 50 μ L. The PCR amplification conditions were an initial step of 95°C for 60 seconds, followed by 35 consecutive cycles at 94°C for 20 seconds, 60°C for 30 seconds and 72°C for 30 seconds. PCR products were stained with SYBR Green and analyzed by electrophoresis using 1.5% - 3% agarose gels in TBE buffer, and visualized by fluorescence under UV light (Figure 10). Amplified PCR products were correlated with a 100 base-pair ladder (Invitrogen) to confirm conjunction with their expected PCR amplicon size. PCR products were purified with a QIAquick PCR purification column (Qiagen) and submitted for sequencing to the Oregon Health and Science University MMI DNA Services Core (Portland, OR). Nucleotide sequence alignments were compared to the NCBI GenBank database for final verification of amplification by using the online ClustalW2 multiple sequence alignment tool

<u>http://www.ebi.ac.uk/Tools/msa/clustalw2/</u> (44) and visualized using 4Peaks software (4Peaks Version 1.7.2 by A. Griekspoor and Tom Groothuis, mekentosj.com) (Figure 11).

2.3 Genotypic characterization

PCR was utilized to screen for the presence of virulence genes for gelatinase activity (gelE), hemolysin/bacteriocin activity (cyl), and clumping response to pheromone (asa) in clinical isolates of multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired *E. faecalis* (n = 23) (Table 2). Selected PCR products were purified and underwent DNA sequencing for verification of amplification as described previously.

2.4 Statistical analysis

Two-tailed Fisher's exact tests were used to compare the occurrence of CRISPR-*cas* in endodontic, oral and multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired isolates. Two-tailed Fisher's exact tests were used to evaluate the distribution of antibiotic resistance, gelatinase activity, bacteriocin production, hemolysin activity, and clumping response to pheromone among strains without CRISPR-*cas*. Significance was set at P < 0.05.

Figure 10. Representative image showing gel analysis of PCR amplification products with *E*. *faecalis*-derived 16S rRNA gene primers.



Figure 11. Example of DNA sequencing as viewed with 4Peaks software.



Chapter 3: Results

3.1 Occurrence of CRISPR-cas

PCR products were available for all strains. The overall occurrence of CRISPR-*cas* in *E. faecalis* isolates from different sources is shown in Tables 3 and 4. Overall, CRISPR1-*cas* or CRISPR3-*cas* determinants were present in proportionally fewer multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired strains (9 of 23) than endodontic (25 of 34) (P=0.01) and oral (15 of 21) strains (P=0.04). The null hypothesis was rejected. The CRISPR1-*cas* determinant was present in proportionally fewer endodontic (8 of 34) and multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired strains (3 of 23) than oral strains (15 of 21) (P=0.0007 and P=0.0002, respectively), with no difference between endodontic and multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired strains. The CRISPR3-*cas* determinant was present in proportionally more endodontic strains (20 of 34) compared to multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired strains (6 of 23) (P=0.03), and was not identified in any oral strains. Three endodontic strains had both CRISPR1-*cas* and CRISPR3-*cas* than CRISPR1-*cas* (P=0.006) (Figure 12), while the reverse was true for oral strains (P<0.0001) (Figure 13). There was no difference in the occurrence of CRISPR1-*cas* versus CRISPR3-*cas* multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired strains (Figure 14).

The sequenced CRISPR1-*cas* and CRISPR3-*cas* PCR products were 97-100% identical to the corresponding *E. faecalis* OG1RF and Fly-1 sequences. The sequenced products verifying absence of false negative PCR results were 94-100% identical to the corresponding *E. faecalis* V583 sequence (Appendices 1-6).

3.2 Virulence traits and antibiotic resistance

Phenotypic characteristics of multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired strains are shown in Table 5; phenotypic characteristics of endodontic and oral strains are reported elsewhere (7, 8, 13, 34). Overall, a significant association was found between the absence of either CRISPR1-*cas* or CRISPR3-*cas* and the presence of antibiotic resistance (P=0.04) (Table 6). Other significant associations were found between the absence of CRISPR1-*cas* and the absence of hemolysin activity (P=0.01), and between the absence of CRISPR3-*cas* and presence of gelatinase activity (P=0.005), bacteriocin activity (P=0.02), and antibiotic resistance (P=0.0009) (Table 6)

In endodontic strains, significant associations were found between the absence of both CRISPR-*cas* determinants and the presence of bacteriocin activity (P=0.02) (Table 7), between the absence of CRISPR1-*cas* and the presence of a clumping response to pheromone (P=0.03) (Table 7), and between the absence of CRISPR3-*cas* and the presence of bacteriocin activity (P=0.03) (Table 7). Within oral and multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired subgroups, no significant associations were found (Table 7).

3.3 Genotypic characterization of multidrug-resistant hospital acquired E. faecalis

Genotypic characteristics and phenotypic characteristics of multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired strains are shown in Table 8. The co-occurrence of genotypic and phenotypic virulence traits are shown in Figure 15. The majority of strains expressing each virulence trait also possessed the corresponding gene determinant. Seventeen of the 18 (94%) strains that expressed the gelatinase phenotype possessed the corresponding *gelE* gene determinant. Eight of the 12 (66%) strains that expressed hemolysin/bacteriocin also possessed the *cyl* gene determinant. Eight of the nine strains (88%) that exhibited a clumping response to pheromone also possessed the *asa* gene determinant (Table 8).

Table 3. Occurrence of CRISPR-cas in E. faecalis

Source	CRISPR1 CRISPR		CRISPR	1-cas ^(c)	CRISPR	3-cas ^(d)		-cas AND R3-cas
	Present	Absent	Present	Absent	Present	Absent	Present	Absent
Endodontic (n=34)	25	9	8	26	20	14	3	9
Oral (n=21)	15	6	15	6	0	21	0	6
Hospital-acquired multi- drug resistant (n=23)	9	14	3	20	6	17	0	14

^(a) CRISPR1-*cas* is present in strains GS1, GS9, GS10, GS16, GS19, GS25, GS30, GS31, E1, E4, E8, E11, E12, OS16, OS25, AA-OR3, AA-OR4, AA-OR26, AA-OR34, AA-T4, AA-T26, GS34, OG1, HNEf2, HNEf3 and DS16. CRISPR3-*cas* is present in strains GS3, GS4, GS5, GS6, GS7, GS8, GS9, GS10, GS12, GS13, GS14, GS15, GS16, GS17, GS21, GS22, GS24, GS26, GS27, GS32 and HNEf7, HNEf14, HNEf15, HNEf17, HNEf18, HNEf19. Both CRISPR1-*cas* AND CRISPR3-*cas* are present in strains GS9, GS10 and GS16.

^(b) Absent in more hospital-acquired multi-drug resistant than endodontic (*P*=0.0136) and oral (*P*=0.0396) strains

(c) Absent in more endodontic and hospital-acquired multi-drug resistant than oral strains (P=0.0007 and P=0.0002, respectively)

^(d) Absent in more oral than endodontic and hospital-acquired multi-drug resistant (*P*<0.0001 and P=0.0002, respectively) with a significant difference between endodontic and hospital-acquired multi-drug resistant (P=0.0291)

Table 4. CRISPR1-*cas* and/or CRISPR3-*cas* in endodontic, oral and multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired strains of *E. faecalis*

Strain	CRISPR1-cas	CRISPR3-cas	n
Endodontic (n=34)			
GS2, GS18, GS23, GS28, GS29, GS33, JG2, ER3/2s, ER5/1	-	-	9
GS1, GS19, GS25, GS30, GS31	+	-	5
GS3-GS8, GS12-GS15, GS17, GS21, GS22, GS24, GS26, GS27, GS32	-	+	17
GS9, GS10, GS16	+	+	3
Oral (n=21)			
E2, E3, E5-E7, E10	-	-	6
E1, E4, E8, E11, E12, OS16, OS25, AA-OR3, AA-OR4, AA- OR26, AA-OR34, AA-T4, AA- T26, GS34, OG1	+	-	15
Hospital-acquired multi-drug resi	etant (n=23)		
HNEf1, HNEf4-HNEf6, HNEf8- HNEf13, HNEf16, HNEf20, V583, MMH594	-		14
HNEf2, HNEf3, DS16	+	-	3
HNEf7, HNEf14, HNEf15, HNEf17- HNEf19	-	+	6
Other (n=2)			
OG1RF	(+)	-	
Fly 1		(+)	

Figure 12. Occurrence of CRISPR1-*cas* versus CRISPR3-*cas* in endodontic strains of *E*. *faecalis*



Figure 13. Occurrence of CRISPR1-cas versus CRISPR3-cas in oral strains of E. faecalis



Figure 14. Occurrence of CRISPR1-cas versus CRISPR3-cas in multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired oral strains of *E. faecalis*



Table 5. Phenotypic characteristics of multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired *E. faecalis*

Table 6. Associations between phenotypic characteristics and the occurrence of CRISPR-*cas* in *E. faecalis* (n=78)

Absent 25 10	P 0.04	Present	Absent 28	P	Present	Absent	Р
10	0.04		28				
10	0.04		28	-			
10				ns	6	39	0.0009
			24		16	17	
21	ns	13	36	ns	19	29	0.005
14		13	16		3	27	
18	ns	12	22	ns	5	29	0.02
17		14	30		17	27	
10	ns	8	22	ns	10	22	ns
10		18	30		12	34	
3	ns	7	3	0.01	0	10	ns
32		19	49		22	46	
	32	32	32 19		32 19 49	32 19 49 22	32 19 49 22 46

Table 7. Associations between phenotypic characteristics and CRISPR1-*cas*, CRISPR3-*cas*, or either CRISPR1-*cas* or CRISPR3-*cas* in *E*. *faecalis* from different sources

	CRISPR1-cas	CRISPR1-cas	Р	CRISPR3-cas	CRISPR3-cas	Р	Either CRISF	PR1 or 3-cas	Р
	Present	Absent		Present	Absent		Present	Absent	
	n	n		п	п		п	п	
Oral (n=21)									
Gelatinase activity	_				_				
Present	5	1	ns	0	5	ns	4	1	ns
Absent	10	5		0	16		11	5	
Bacteriocin activity									
Present	8	2	ns	0	10	ns	8	2	ns
Absent	7	4		0	11		7	4	
Pheromone response				-				-	
Present	5	0	ns	0	5	ns	5	0	ns
Absent									
Hemolysin activity	10	6		0	16		10	6	
	6	1		0	7		6	1	
Present	6	1	ns	0	7	ns	6	1	ns
Absent	9	5		0	14		9	5	
Antibiotic resistance		_						_	
Present	11	3	ns	0	14	ns	11	3	ns
Absent	4	3		0	7		4	3	
Endodontic (n=34)									
Gelatinase activity									
Present	6	19	ns	16	9	ns	20	5	ns
Absent	2	7		3	6		4	5	
Bacteriocin activity								_	
Present	3	10	ns	4	9	0.02	6	7	0.02
Absent	5	16		15	6		18	3	
Pheromone response Present	1	15	0.03	9	7	ns	10	6	ns
Absent			0.05			115			115
	7	11		10	8		14	4	
Hemolysin activity Present	0	0			0			0	
Absent	0 8	0	ns	0 19	0 15	ns	0 24	0	ns
Antibiotic resistance	0	26		19	15		24	10	
Present	3	5	ns	3	5	ns	5	3	ns
Absent	5	21		16	10		19	7	
Hospital (n=23) Gelatinase activity									
Present	2	16	ns	3	15	ns	3	15	ns
Absent	1	4	115	0	5	115	1	4	115
Bacteriocin activity		·		Ū	5			·	
Present	1	10	ns	1	10	ns	2	9	ns
Absent	2	10		2	10		2	10	
Pheromone response	2	7			10		-	4	
Present	2 1	7 13	ns	$\frac{1}{2}$	10 10	ns	5 4	4 10	ns
Absent Hemolysin activity	1	13		2	10		4	10	
Present	1	2	ns	0	3	ns	1	2	ns
Absent	2	18	-	3	17		3	17	-
Antibiotic resistance									
Present	3 0	20 0	ns	3 0	$\begin{array}{c} 20\\ 0\end{array}$	ns	4 0	19 0	ns
Absent									

Table 8. Phenotypic characteristics and presence of virulence gene determinants of multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired isolates of *E. faecalis* (n=23)

	Phenotype		Genotype		Phen	otype	Genotype	Phenotype		Genotype
								Pheromone		Adherence Facto
Strain	Gelatinase	gelE F/R	ef184F/fsrR	fsrC F/R	Bacteriocin	Hemolysin	cylA F/R	Response	asa F/R	esp F/R
HNEf1	+	+		1	+	-	-	-	+	-
HNEf2	+	-			-	-	-	+	+	-
HNEf3	-	-			-	-	-	-	+	+
HNEf4	-	+	-	+	-	-	-	-	+	-
HNEf5	+	+			+	-	+	-	+	-
HNEf6	+	+			-	-	+	-	+	-
HNEf7	+	+			+	-	+	-	+	-
HNEf8	+	+			+	-	-	-	+	+
HNEf9	-	+	+		+	-	-	-	+	+
HNEf10	+	+			-	-	-	-	+	-
HNEf11	-	+	-	+	-	-	+	-	+	+
HNEf12	+	+			-	-	+	-	+	-
HNEf13	+	+			+	-	+	+	+	-
HNEf14	-	-			-	+	-	-	+	-
HNEf15	+	+			-	-	+	-	+	+
HNEf16	+	+			+	-	+	+	-	-
HNEf17	+	+			-	-	+	+	+	-
HNEf18	+	+			+	-	+	+	+	-
HNEf19	+	+			+	-	+	+	+	-
HNEf20	+	+			-	-	+	+	+	-
V583	+	+	(-)		-	-	-	-	+	-
DS16	+	+			+	(+)	+	(+)	+	+
MMH594	+	+			+	+	+	+	+	-
Other/Misc										
OG1RF (lab strain)	(+)	(+)				-		-		
AA-OR26		(-)								
FA2-2			(+)				(-)		(-)	(-)
E1							(+)		(+)	
MMH594										(+)

Figure 15. Genotypic and phenotypic co-occurrence of virulence traits in multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired *E. faecalis*



Chapter 4: Discussion

Microorganisms are vulnerable to invasion by mobile genetic elements such as viruses, plasmids and transposons. CRISPR-Cas systems are highly adaptive immune systems present in most archaea and many bacteria that provide intracellular protection against these invading genetic elements (23, 45). In this study endodontic and oral *E. faecalis* strains were significantly more likely to possess CRISPR-*cas* determinants than multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired strains. Interestingly, and for reasons that are not clear, the majority of endodontic strains were more likely to harbor CRISPR3-*cas* than CRISPR1-*cas*, and no CRISPR3-*cas* were detected in oral strains. Most of the endodontic strains were obtained from dental patients in Sweden in 1994-1995, whereas all the other strains came from patients in the United States in 2002-2004.

Genes relating to antibiotic resistance, as well as virulence traits, can be found on plasmids that respond to pheromones (46). Possession of virulence traits that can be encoded on mobile elements capable of horizontal gene transfer might provide a selective advantage over other species in the infected root canal (11, 15). Virulence factors with the potential to promote adaptation and survival in different environments have been identified in enterococci recovered from infected root canals (13, 14). Of 31 *E. faecalis* strains from infected root canals, potential virulence traits expressed included production of gelatinase by 23 strains, and production of aggregation substance by 16 strains in response to pheromones in *E. faecalis* culture filtrate (13). A clumping response to pheromone indicates the production of aggregation substance and the potential for conjugative horizontal gene transfer (8). *E. faecalis* can harbor transferable high level antibiotic resistance and virulence determinants carried on plasmids (8, 47). Pheromone-initiated conjugative transfer of plasmids occurs at a higher frequency with clumping inducing agents. In an early study, examination of 100 clinical isolates of *Streptococcus faecalis* showed a significant correlation between drug-resistance and the ability to produce and respond to clumping

inducing agents (48). Therefore it was of interest to determine whether associations exist between the absence of CRISPR-*cas* and the presence of virulence traits in endodontic strains. In this study 15 of those isolates that exhibited a clumping response to pheromone also lacked the CRISPR1-*cas* determinant (P=0.03), but nine of those strains possessed CRISPR3-*cas*, suggesting no association.

There was a significant association between the absence of CRISPR-*cas* and the presence of antibiotic resistance (P=0.04). Similarly, Palmer and Gilmore reported that a lack of CRISPR-*cas* was positively associated with multidrug antibiotic resistance and suggested that antibiotic therapy inadvertently selects for enterococci with compromised genome defense (30). In the present study 21 of the 23 multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired strains were vancomycin resistant. In contrast, in the endodontic and oral strains, tetracycline resistance was the most common (n=19 strains), with multiple antibiotic resistance present in only one endodontic and six oral strains (7, 8, 13, 34). Tetracycline resistance encoded on conjugative transposons is highly transferrable in *E. faecalis* (49). Our data showing that 14 of the 19 tetracycline resistant endodontic and oral strains possessed either CRISPR1-*cas* or CRISPR3-*cas* supports previous speculation that conjugative transposons may evade the CRISPR-*cas* system (30).

Bacteriocins are antimicrobial proteins or peptides produced by many strains of Grampositive and Gram-negative bacteria that can be bactericidal to other members of the same species (narrow spectrum) or across genera (broad spectrum). The production of a bacteriocin can provide the producer strain with a selective advantage over other strains, especially those closely related to the bacteriocin-producing strain (50). Lindenstrauss et al. found a significant association between the absence of CRISPR-*cas* and the presence of the cytolysin operon (which encodes hemolysin and bacteriocin activity) in *E. faecalis* strains recovered from predominantly clinical sources (29). Similarly, in this study endodontic strains lacking CRISPR-cas were more likely to demonstrate bacteriocin activity.
Surprisingly, a significant association was found between the absence of CRISPR1-*cas* and the absence of hemolysin activity (P=0.01); the reasons for this are unknown.

Genotypic evidence of potential virulence traits were identified in multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired strains of *E. faecalis* known to express the virulence traits gelatinase and hemolysin/bacteriocin activity (*cyl*), and clumping response to pheromone. Seventeen of the 18 (94%) strains that expressed the gelatinase phenotype also possessed the corresponding *gelE* gene determinant. The one strain that expressed the trait but did not have the gene was HNEf 2. There were three strains (HNEf4, 9, 11) that did not express the gelatinase trait, but did have the *gelE* gene (Table 8). Since expression of gelatinase is regulated by a quorum sensing system encoded by the *fsr* gene cluster these strains were further screened for defects in the gene cluster, known to be associated with the gelatinase-negative phenotype (42). In one of the isolates possessing the gelatinase-negative phenotype (HNEf9), the 1kb PCR product corresponding to the 3' end of ef1841 and the 3' end of the fsrC product for gelatinase-negative phenotype was detected, indicating a 23.9kb deletion sequence of the fsr gene cluster upstream to gelE (39); in the remaining two strains (HNEf4 and HNEf11) the internal fsrC product was detected indicating a defective fsr gene cluster (42).

While the majority of strains expressing each virulence trait also possessed the corresponding gene determinant (Figure 15), it should be noted that six strains possessing the *cyl* gene determinant did not express hemolysin/bacteriocin activity, and eight strains possessing the *asa* gene determinant did not clump in response to pheromone (Table 8). The reasons for non-functionality of genes was not explored further but may be attributable to a variety of regulatory factors (51-53). Similarly, there were five endodontic and four multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired strains that contained CRISPR3-*cas* determinants but also contained the determinants confirming their absence. These results were confirmed by DNA sequencing. The reason for this redundancy is not clear at this time.

37

Details are rapidly emerging about the acquisition, mechanisms, and dynamic evolution of the various CRISPR-Cas immune systems and their associated genes (22, 23, 54). From a clinical perspective the absence of a CRISPR-Cas immunity system might facilitate cell survival under certain conditions, e.g. by allowing uptake of antibiotic resistance genes in an antibiotic environment, but could also render the cell more vulnerable to attack by other selfish genetic elements (e.g. phages). Conversely, possession of a functional CRISPR-Cas system might facilitate survival by way of stabilizing the genome while allowing the cell to acquire information about the external environment via foreign DNA, integrate this information into the genome, and subsequently pass it on to progeny (54). No information directly pertaining to the root canal or oral environment, or specifically to *E. faecalis*, could be found about selective forces for the acquisition of CRISPR-*cas*. However, an analyses of 370 other prokaryotic genomes concluded that there was strong evidence for the propagation of CRISPR-*cas* genes to occur via horizontal gene transfer (55). Clinically, to what extent microbial cells residing in a root canal or oral biofilm participate in horizontal gene transfer of CRISPR-*cas* genes remains to be established.

Chapter 5: Summary and Conclusions

Microorganisms are vulnerable to invasion by mobile genetic elements such as viruses, plasmids and transposons. The recently discovered CRISPR (Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats)-associated system (CRISPR-Cas) is an adaptive immunity system found in most archaea and many bacteria that targets and inactivates invading foreign genetic elements. Cells with CRISPR-*cas* are more likely to resist the invasion and uptake of foreign DNA such as viruses, plasmids and transposons.

The aims of this study were to: (1) compare the occurrence of CRISPR-*cas* in collections of endodontic (n=34), oral (n=21), and multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired strains of *E. faecalis* (n=23); (2) evaluate the distribution of antibiotic resistance and virulence traits amongst strains without CRISPR-*cas*; and (3) evaluate whether multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired *E. faecalis* that express certain virulence traits also possess a corresponding gene determinant.

To accomplish these aims, *E. faecalis* strains were screened for CRISPR1-*cas* and CRISPR3-*cas* by using PCR, and products were verified by DNA sequencing. Associations were investigated between the occurrence of CRISPR-*cas* and the expression of phenotypic traits (antibiotic resistance, gelatinase activity, bacteriocin production, hemolysin activity, and clumping response to pheromone). Whether multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired *E. faecalis* strains that express certain virulence traits also possess a corresponding gene determinant was also evaluated.

It was found that CRISPR-*cas* determinants were present in proportionally more endodontic (25 of 34) and oral (15 of 21) strains than multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired (9 of 23) strains (P=0.01 and 0.04, respectively). Significant associations were found between the absence of CRISPR-*cas* and the presence of antibiotic resistance in strains overall (P=0.04) and bacteriocin activity in endodontic strains (P=0.01). As expected, genotype and

39

phenotype correlated for all tested conditions. The findings from this study have been published in the Journal of Endodontics (56).

Finally, the present study is the first to investigate CRISPR-*cas* in isolates recovered from infected root canals. Evidence for the presence of CRISPR-*cas* in the majority of endodontic and oral *E. faecalis* strains raises intriguing questions as to how prokaryotic immune systems might modulate interactions within the polymicrobial endodontic biofilm environment. As further details emerge regarding the occurrence and function of the CRISPR-Cas systems, their role in this process may become more clear.

<u>References</u>

1. Mahmoudpour A, Rahimi S, Sina M, et al. Isolation and identification of Enterococcus faecalis from necrotic root canals using multiplex PCR. J Oral Sci 2007;49:221-7.

2. Reynaud Af Geijersstam AH, Ellington MJ, Warner M, et al. Antimicrobial susceptibility and molecular analysis of Enterococcus faecalis originating from endodontic infections in Finland and Lithuania. Oral Microbiol Immunol 2006;21:164-8.

3. Sedgley C, Nagel A, Dahlen G, et al. Real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction and culture analyses of Enterococcus faecalis in root canals. J Endod 2006;32:173-7.

4. Rocas IN, Siqueira JF, Jr., Santos KR. Association of Enterococcus faecalis with different forms of periradicular diseases. J Endod 2004;30:315-20.

5. Gomes BP, Pinheiro ET, Sousa EL, et al. Enterococcus faecalis in dental root canals detected by culture and by polymerase chain reaction analysis. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2006;102:247-53.

6. Wang QQ, Zhang CF, Chu CH, et al. Prevalence of Enterococcus faecalis in saliva and filled root canals of teeth associated with apical periodontitis. Int J Oral Sci 2012;4:19-23.

7. Sedgley CM, Nagel AC, Shelburne CE, et al. Quantitative real-time PCR detection of oral Enterococcus faecalis in humans. Arch Oral Biol 2005;50:575-83.

8. Sedgley CM, Lennan SL, Clewell DB. Prevalence, phenotype and genotype of oral enterococci. Oral Microbiol Immunol 2004;19:95-101.

9. Zehnder M, Guggenheim B. The mysterious appearance of enterococci in filled root canals. Int Endod J 2009;42:277-87.

10. Sassone LM, Fidel RA, Faveri M, et al. A microbiological profile of unexposed and exposed pulp space of primary endodontic infections by checkerboard DNA-DNA hybridization. J Endod 2012;38:889-93.

11. Sedgley CM. The influence of root canal sealer on extended intracanal survival of Enterococcus faecalis with and without gelatinase production ability in obturated root canals. J Endod 2007;33:561-6.

12. Sedgley CM, Lennan SL, Appelbe OK. Survival of Enterococcus faecalis in root canals ex vivo. Int Endod J 2005;38:735-42.

13. Sedgley CM, Molander A, Flannagan SE, et al. Virulence, phenotype and genotype characteristics of endodontic Enterococcus spp. Oral Microbiol Immunol 2005;20:10-9.

14. Reynaud Af Geijersstam A, Culak R, Molenaar L, et al. Comparative analysis of virulence determinants and mass spectral profiles of Finnish and Lithuanian endodontic Enterococcus faecalis isolates. Oral Microbiol Immunol 2007;22:87-94.

15. Sedgley CM, Lee EH, Martin MJ, et al. Antibiotic resistance gene transfer between Streptococcus gordonii and Enterococcus faecalis in root canals of teeth ex vivo. J Endod 2008;34:570-4.

 Siqueira JF, Jr. Microbial causes of endodontic flare-ups. Int Endod J 2003;36:453-63.

17. Siqueira JF, Jr., Rocas IN. Exploiting molecular methods to explore endodontic infections: Part 2--Redefining the endodontic microbiota. J Endod 2005;31:488-98.

18. Molander A, Reit C, Dahlen G, et al. Microbiological status of root-filled teeth with apical periodontitis. Int Endod J 1998;31:1-7.

19. Kaufman B, Spangberg L, Barry J, et al. Enterococcus spp. in endodontically treated teeth with and without periradicular lesions. J Endod 2005;31:851-6.

20. Casadevall A, Pirofski L. Host-pathogen interactions: the attributes of virulence. J Infect Dis 2001;184:337-44.

21. Barrangou R, Fremaux C, Deveau H, et al. CRISPR provides acquired resistance against viruses in prokaryotes. Science 2007;315:1709-12.

22. Terns MP, Terns RM. CRISPR-based adaptive immune systems. Curr Opin Microbiol 2011;14:321-7.

23. Makarova KS, Haft DH, Barrangou R, et al. Evolution and classification of the CRISPR-Cas systems. Nat Rev Microbiol 2011;9:467-77.

24. Haft DH, Selengut J, Mongodin EF, et al. A guild of 45 CRISPR-associated (Cas) protein families and multiple CRISPR/Cas subtypes exist in prokaryotic genomes. PLoS Comput Biol 2005;1:474-83.

25. Makarova KS, Aravind L, Wolf YI, et al. Unification of Cas protein families and a simple scenario for the origin and evolution of CRISPR-Cas systems. Biol Direct 2011;6:38.

26. Horvath P, Barrangou R. CRISPR/Cas, the immune system of bacteria and archaea. Science 2010;327:167-70.

27. van der Oost J, Jore MM, Westra ER, et al. CRISPR-based adaptive and heritable immunity in prokaryotes. Trends Biochem Sci 2009;34:401-7.

28. Bourgogne A, Garsin DA, Qin X, et al. Large scale variation in Enterococcus faecalis illustrated by the genome analysis of strain OG1RF. Genome Biol 2008;9:R110.

29. Lindenstrauss AG, Pavlovic M, Bringmann A, et al. Comparison of genotypic and phenotypic cluster analyses of virulence determinants and possible role of CRISPR elements towards their incidence in Enterococcus faecalis and Enterococcus faecium. Syst Appl Microbiol 2011;34:553-60.

30. Palmer KL, Gilmore MS. Multidrug-resistant Enterococci lack CRISPR-cas. MBio 2010;1:1-10.

31. Palmer KL, Carniol K, Manson JM, et al. High-quality draft genome sequences of 28 Enterococcus sp. isolates. J Bacteriol 2010;192:2469-70.

32. Tomich PK, An FY, Damle SP, et al. Plasmid-related transmissibility and multiple drug resistance in Streptococcus faecalis subsp. zymogenes strain DS16. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1979;15:828-30.

33. Hwang YC, Flannagan SE, Clewell DB, et al. Bacteriocin-related siblicide in clinical isolates of enterococci. Probiotics Antimicrob Proteins 2011;3:57-61.

34. Sedgley C, Buck G, Appelbe O. Prevalence of Enterococcus faecalis at multiple oral sites in endodontic patients using culture and PCR. J Endod 2006;32:104-9.

35. Johnson EM, Flannagan SE, Sedgley CM. Coaggregation interactions between oral and endodontic Enterococcus faecalis and bacterial species isolated from persistent apical periodontitis. J Endod 2006;32:946-50.

36. Goldstein J, McKinney R. Development of a periapical infection in the presence of antibiotic therapy. J Endod 1981;7:89-91.

37. Gold OG, Jordan HV, van Houte J. The prevalence of enterococci in the human mouth and their pathogenicity in animal models. Arch Oral Biol 1975;20:473-7.

38. Shankar V, Baghdayan AS, Huycke MM, et al. Infection-derived Enterococcus faecalis strains are enriched in esp, a gene encoding a novel surface protein. Infect Immun 1999;67:193-200.

39. Sahm DF, Kissinger J, Gilmore MS, et al. In vitro susceptibility studies of vancomycin-resistant Enterococcus faecalis. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1989;33:1588-91.

40. Oliver DR, Brown BL, Clewell DB. Analysis of plasmid deoxyribonucleic acid in a cariogenic strain of Streptococcus faecalis: an approach to identifying genetic determinants on cryptic plasmids. J Bacteriol 1977;130:759-65.

41. Eaton TJ, Gasson MJ. Molecular screening of Enterococcus virulence determinants and potential for genetic exchange between food and medical isolates. Appl Environ Microbiol 2001;67:1628-35.

42. Nakayama J, Kariyama R, Kumon H. Description of a 23.9-kilobase chromosomal deletion containing a region encoding fsr genes which mainly determines the gelatinase-negative phenotype of clinical isolates of Enterococcus faecalis in urine. Appl Environ Microbiol 2002;68:3152-5.

43. Creti R, Imperi M, Bertuccini L, et al. Survey for virulence determinants among Enterococcus faecalis isolated from different sources. J Med Microbiol 2004;53:13-20.

44. Chenna R, Sugawara H, Koike T, et al. Multiple sequence alignment with the Clustal series of programs. Nucleic Acids Res 2003;31:3497-500.

45. Koonin EV, Makarova KS. CRISPR-Cas: an adaptive immunity system in prokaryotes. F1000 Biol Rep 2009;1:95.

46. Sedgley CM, Clewell DB. Bacterial plasmids in the oral and endodontic microflora. Endod Topics 2004;9:37-51.

47. Weigel LM, Clewell DB, Gill SR, et al. Genetic analysis of a high-level vancomycinresistant isolate of Staphylococcus aureus. Science 2003;302:1569-71.

48. Dunny GM, Craig RA, Carron RL, et al. Plasmid transfer in Streptococcus faecalis: production of multiple sex pheromones by recipients. Plasmid 1979;2:454-65.

49. Clewell DB, Flannagan SE, Jaworski DD. Unconstrained bacterial promiscuity: the Tn916-Tn1545 family of conjugative transposons. Trends Microbiol 1995;3:229-36.

50. Tomita H, Fujimoto S, Tanimoto K, et al. Cloning and genetic and sequence analyses of the bacteriocin 21 determinant encoded on the Enterococcus faecalis pheromone-responsive conjugative plasmid pPD1. J Bacteriol 1997;179:7843-55.

51. Cox CR, Coburn PS, Gilmore MS. Enterococcal cytolysin: a novel two component peptide system that serves as a bacterial defense against eukaryotic and prokaryotic cells. Curr Protein Pept Sci 2005;6:77-84.

52. Dunny GM, Johnson CM. Regulatory circuits controlling enterococcal conjugation: lessons for functional genomics. Curr Opin Microbiol 2011;14:174-80.

53. Perez-Rueda E, Martinez-Nunez MA. The repertoire of DNA-binding transcription factors in prokaryotes: functional and evolutionary lessons. Sci Prog 2012;95:315-29.

54. Takeuchi N, Wolf YI, Makarova KS, et al. Nature and intensity of selection pressure on CRISPR-associated genes. J Bacteriol 2012;194:1216-25.

55. Godde JS, Bickerton A. The repetitive DNA elements called CRISPRs and their associated genes: evidence of horizontal transfer among prokaryotes. J Mol Evol 2006;62:718-29.

56. Burley KM, Sedgley CM. CRISPR-Cas, a prokaryotic adaptive immune system, in endodontic, oral, and multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired Enterococcus faecalis. J Endod 2012;38:1511-5.

Appendices

	(OG1RF)	(OG1RF)	(V583)	(V583)	Final Determin	ation after DSEQ
Strain	cas1F	cas1R	neg1cas1F	neg1cas1R	CRISPR1-cas	
Oral (n=21)						Oral (n=21)
E1	98	98			Yes	Yes=15
E2			96	98	No	No=6
E3			96	98	No	
E4	100	100			Yes	
E5			97	99	No	
E6			97	99	No	
E7			98	100	No	
E8	100	100			Yes	
E10			97	98	No	
E11	100	100			Yes	
E12	99	99			Yes	
OS16	99	100			Yes	
OS25	98	98			Yes	
AA-OR3	99	99			Yes	
AA-OR4	100	99			Yes	
AA-OR26	100	100			Yes	
AA-OR34	100	100			Yes	
AA-T4	100	100			Yes	
AA-T26	100	100			Yes	
GS34	100	100			Yes	
OG1	100	100			Yes	
Values repres	sent percentage of	alignment with c	ontrol strain.			
() Control str	rains were OG1RI	F and V583				

Appendix 1. Results of Clustal W2 sequence alignments for CRISPR1-cas in oral strains

Appendix 2. Results of Clustal W2 sequence alignments for CRISPR1-cas in endodontic strains

	(OG1RF)	(OG1RF)	(V583)	(V583)	Final Determin	ation ater DSEQ
Strain	cas1F	cas1R	neg1cas1F	neg1cas1R	CRISPR1-cas	
Hospital (n=	23)					Hospital (n=23)
HNEf1			99		No	Yes=3
HNEf2	98	98			Yes	No=20
HNEf3	98	98			Yes	
HNEf4			96		No	
HNEf5			98		No	
HNEf6			98		No	
HNEf7			97		No	
HNEf8			97		No	
HNEf9			97		No	
HNEf10			95		No	
HNEf11			96		No	
HNEf12			97		No	
HNEf13			98		No	
HNEf14			100	100	No	
HNEf15			98		No	
HNEf16			98		No	
HNEf17			97		No	
HNEf18			97		No	
HNEf19			97		No	
HNEf20			98		No	
V583					No (control)	
DS16	100	100			Yes	
MMH594					Not available	
Other/Misc						
OG1RF	X	Х			Yes (control)	
Fly1						
Values repre	sent percen	tage of alig	nment with	control strair	1.	
	trains were					

Appendix 3. Results of Clustal W2 sequence alignments for CRISPR1-cas in multidrugresistant hospital-acquired strains

	(Fly1)	(V583)	Final De	termination after DSEQ
Strain	3csnF	neg3casF	CRISPR	3-cas
Oral (n=21)				Oral (n=21)
E1		98	No	Yes=0
E2		97	No	No=21
E3		97	No	
E4		98	No	
E5		98	No	
E6		98	No	
E7		98	No	
E8	97	97	No	
E10		97	No	
E11		97	No	
E12	98	98	No	
OS16		98	No	
OS25		97	No	
AA-OR3		98	No	
AA-OR4		97	No	
AA-OR26		98	No	
AA-OR34		97	No	
AA-T4		97	No	
AA-T26		98	No	
GS34		98	No	
OG1		98	No	
		ge of alignme	nt with cor	ntrol strain.
() = control	strains			

Appendix 4. Results of Clustal W2 sequence alignments for CRISPR3-cas in oral strains

	(Fly1)	(V583)	nation after DSEQ			
Strain	3csnF	neg3casF	CRISPR3-cas			
Endodontic (n=34)				Endodontic (n=34)		
GS1		99	No	Yes=20		
GS2		97	No	No=14		
GS3	99		Yes			
GS4	99		Yes			
GS5	99		Yes			
GS6	99		Yes			
GS7	99		Yes			
GS8	98	41	Yes			
GS9	100	98	Yes			
GS10	99	97	Yes			
GS12	99		Yes			
GS13	99		Yes			
GS14	99	97	Yes			
GS15	100		Yes			
GS16	99	98	Yes			
GS17	99	98	Yes			
GS18		98	No			
GS19		98	No			
GS21	100		Yes			
GS22	99		Yes			
GS23		98	No			
GS24	99		Yes			
GS25		98	No			
GS26	99		Yes			
GS27	99		Yes			
GS28		98	No			
GS29		97	No			
GS30		98	No			
GS31		98	No			
GS32	98	39	Yes			
GS33		98	No			
JG2		98	No			
ER3/2s		98	No			
ER5/1		98	No			
	ent percentage o	f alignment wit				
() = control s		6				

Appendix 5. Results of Clustal W2 sequence alignments for CRISPR3-cas in endodontic strains

Appendix 6. Results of Clustal W2 sequence alignments for CRISPR3-cas in multidrugresistant hospital-acquired strains

3csnF neg3casF CRISPR3-cas Hospital (n=23) Hospital (n=23) Hospital (n=23) HNEf1 99 No Yes=6 HNEf2 98 No No=17 HNEf3 98 No No HNEf4 99 No HNEf5 HNEf5 99 No HNEf6 HNEf6 99 No HNEf7 HNEf7 99 41 Yes HNEf8 99 No HNEf9 97 No HNEf10 99 No HNEf11 98 No HNEf12 99 No HNEf13 99 No HNEf14 99 82 Yes HNEf15 99 100 Yes HNEf16 98 No HNEf18 HNEf15 99 99 Yes HNEf16 98 No HNEf19 99 99 Yes	Strain						
Hospital (n=23) Hospital (n=23) HNEf1 99 No Yes=6 HNEf2 98 No No=17 HNEf3 98 No Hospital (n=23) HNEf2 98 No No=17 HNEf3 98 No Hospital (n=23) HNEf2 98 No No=17 HNEf3 99 No Hospital (n=23) HNEf4 99 No Hospital (n=23) HNEf4 99 No Hospital (n=23) HNEf4 99 No Hospital (n=23) HNEf6 99 No Hospital (n=23) HNEf7 99 No Hospital (n=23) HNEf10 99 No Hospital (n=23) HNEf11 98 No Hospital (n=23) HNEf12 99 No Hospital (n=23) HNEf13 99 No </td <td></td> <td>(Fly1)</td> <td>(V583)</td> <td>Final Determin</td> <td>nation after DSEQ</td>		(Fly1)	(V583)	Final Determin	nation after DSEQ		
HNEf1 99 No Yes=6 HNEf2 98 No No=17 HNEf3 98 No HN HNEf4 99 No HN HNEf5 99 No HN HNEf6 99 No HN HNEf7 99 41 Yes HNEf8 99 No HN HNEf9 97 No HN HNEf10 99 No HN HNEf11 98 No HN HNEf12 99 No HN HNEf13 99 No HN HNEf14 99 82 Yes HNEf15 99 100 Yes HNEf16 98 No HN HNEf19 99 99 Yes HNEf19 <td< td=""><td></td><td>3csnF</td><td>neg3casF</td><td colspan="4"></td></td<>		3csnF	neg3casF				
HNEf2 98 No No=17 HNEf3 98 No HNEf4 99 No HNEf5 99 No HNEf6 99 No HNEf7 99 41 Yes HNEf8 99 No HNEf9 97 No HNEf10 99 No HNEf11 98 No HNEf12 99 No HNEf13 99 No HNEf14 99 82 Yes HNEf15 99 100 Yes HNEf16 98 No HNEf17 99 98 Yes HNEf18 99 99 Yes HNEf19 99 99 Yes HNEf19 99 99 No V583 No No OG1RF No OG1RF Values represent percentage	Hospital (n=23)						
HNEf3 98 No HNEf4 99 No HNEf5 99 No HNEf6 99 No HNEf6 99 No HNEf7 99 41 Yes HNEf8 99 No HNEf9 97 No HNEf9 97 No HNEf10 99 No HNEf11 98 No HNEf12 99 No HNEf13 99 No HNEf14 99 82 Yes HNEf15 99 100 Yes HNEf16 98 No HNEf17 HNEf17 99 98 Yes HNEf18 99 99 Yes HNEf18 99 99 Yes HNEf19 99 99 Yes HNEf19 99 No Mo V583 No No Mo DS16 98 No Mo Odthr/Misc O No </td <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>No</td> <td></td>				No			
HNEf4 99 No HNEf5 99 No HNEf6 99 No HNEf6 99 No HNEf7 99 41 Yes HNEf8 99 No HNEf9 97 No HNEf10 99 No HNEf11 98 No HNEf12 99 No HNEf13 99 No HNEf14 99 82 Yes HNEf15 99 100 Yes HNEf16 98 No HNef17 HNEf15 99 100 Yes HNEf16 98 No HNef18 HNEf17 99 98 Yes HNEf18 99 99 Yes HNEf19 99 No Ocontrol) DS16 98 No OG1RF No Fly1 Values represent percentage of alignment with control strain. Ves (control)	HNEf2				No=17		
HNEf5 99 No HNEf6 99 No HNEf7 99 41 Yes HNEf8 99 No HNEf9 97 No HNEf10 99 No HNEf11 98 No HNEf12 99 No HNEf13 99 No HNEf14 99 82 Yes HNEf15 99 100 Yes HNEf16 98 No HNEf17 99 98 Yes HNEf18 99 99 Yes HNEf19 99 99 Yes HNEf19 99 99 Yes HNEf19 99 99 Yes HNEf19 99 99 Yes HNEf20 98 No Mo V583 No (control) DS16 98 OS16 98 No Mo Other/Misc Ves (control) Ves (control) Values represent percentage of alignment with control strain.	HNEf3			No			
HNEf6 99 No HNEf7 99 41 Yes HNEf8 99 No HNEf9 97 No HNEf10 99 No HNEf11 98 No HNEf12 99 No HNEf13 99 No HNEf14 99 82 Yes HNEf15 99 100 Yes HNEf16 98 No 1 HNEf17 99 98 Yes HNEf16 98 No 1 HNEf17 99 99 Yes HNEf18 99 99 Yes HNEf19 99 99 Yes HNEf18 99 99 Yes HNEf20 98 No 1 V583 No (control) 0 0 DS16 98 No 1 OG1RF No Yes (control) 1 Values represent percentage of alignment with control strain. 1 1	HNEf4						
HNEf7 99 41 Yes HNEf8 99 No HNEf9 97 No HNEf10 99 No HNEf11 98 No HNEf12 99 No HNEf13 99 No HNEf14 99 82 Yes HNEf15 99 100 Yes HNEf16 98 No HNEf17 99 98 Yes HNEf18 99 99 Yes HNEf19 99 99 Yes HNEf16 98 No Mo HNEf17 99 99 Yes HNEf18 99 99 Yes HNEf19 99 99 Yes HNEf20 98 No Mo V583 No (control) DS16 98 No MMH594 99 No Mo Mo OG1RF No Yes (control) Yes (control) Values represent percentage of alignment with control strain.	HNEf5			No			
HNEf8 99 No HNEf9 97 No HNEf10 99 No HNEf11 98 No HNEf11 98 No HNEf12 99 No HNEf13 99 No HNEf14 99 82 Yes HNEf15 99 100 Yes HNEf16 98 No HNEf17 99 98 Yes HNEf18 99 99 Yes HNEf19 99 99 Yes HNEf14 99 Ses Hotop HNEf15 99 100 Yes HNEf16 98 No Hotop HNEf17 99 98 Yes HNEf18 99 99 Yes HNEf20 98 No Mo V583 No (control) State Mo Other/Misc Other/Misc Mo Mo OG1RF No Yes (control) Yes (control) Values rep	HNEf6			No			
HNEf9 97 No HNEf10 99 No HNEf11 98 No HNEf12 99 No HNEf13 99 No HNEf14 99 82 Yes HNEf15 99 100 Yes HNEf16 98 No HNEf17 99 98 Yes HNEf18 99 99 Yes HNEf19 99 Yes HNEf19 HNEf20 98 No Sector V583 No (control) DS16 98 No OG1RF 99 No Sector Sector Fly1 Yes (control) Yes (control) Yes (control)	HNEf7	99	41	Yes			
HNEf10 99 No HNEf11 98 No HNEf12 99 No HNEf13 99 No HNEf14 99 82 Yes HNEf15 99 100 Yes HNEf16 98 No HNEf17 99 98 Yes HNEf18 99 99 Yes HNEf19 99 99 Yes HNEf20 98 No V583 No (control) DS16 DS16 98 No MMH594 99 No OG1RF No Yes (control) Values represent percentage of alignment with control strain. Yes (control)	HNEf8		99	No			
HNEf11 98 No HNEf12 99 No HNEf13 99 No HNEf14 99 82 Yes HNEf15 99 100 Yes HNEf16 98 No HNEf17 99 98 Yes HNEf18 99 99 Yes HNEf19 99 99 Yes HNEf20 98 No No V583 No (control) DS16 98 No Other/Misc	HNEf9		97	No			
HNEf12 99 No HNEf13 99 No HNEf14 99 82 Yes HNEf15 99 100 Yes HNEf16 98 No HNEf17 99 98 Yes HNEf18 99 99 Yes HNEf19 99 99 Yes HNEf20 98 No View V583 No (control) DS16 98 MMH594 99 No Other/Misc OG1RF OG1RF View (control) Yes (control) Yes (control) Values represent percentage of alignment with control strain. No	HNEf10		99	No			
HNEf13 99 No HNEf14 99 82 Yes HNEf15 99 100 Yes HNEf16 98 No HNEf17 99 98 Yes HNEf18 99 99 Yes HNEf19 99 99 Yes HNEf20 98 No V583 No (control) DS16 98 No MMH594 99 No Other/Misc Other/Misc OG1RF OG1RF Yes (control) Yes (control) Values represent percentage of alignment with control strain. Yes (control)	HNEf11		98	No			
HNEf14 99 82 Yes HNEf15 99 100 Yes HNEf16 98 No HNEf16 98 Yes HNEf17 99 98 Yes HNEf18 99 99 Yes HNEf19 99 99 Yes HNEf20 98 No V583 No (control) DS16 98 No MMH594 99 No Other/Misc No OG1RF No Fly1 Yes (control) Values represent percentage of alignment with control strain.	HNEf12		99	No			
HNEf15 99 100 Yes HNEf16 98 No HNEf17 99 98 Yes HNEf18 99 99 Yes HNEf19 99 99 Yes HNEf20 98 No Volume V583 No (control) DS16 98 No MMH594 99 No Other/Misc OG1RF No Fly1 Yes (control) Yes (control) Yes (control)	HNEf13		99	No			
HNEf1698NoHNEf1698NoHNEf179998HNEf189999HNEf199999YesHNEf2098HNEf2098NoV583No (control)DS1698MMH59499Other/Misc00OG1RFNoFly1Yes (control)Values represent percentage of alignment with control strain.	HNEf14	99	82	Yes			
HNEf179998YesHNEf189999YesHNEf199999YesHNEf2098NoV583No (control)DS1698NoMMH59499NoOther/MiscNoOG1RFNoFly1Yes (control)Values represent percentage of alignment with control strain.	HNEf15	99	100	Yes			
HNEf189999YesHNEf199999YesHNEf2098NoV583No (control)DS1698NoMMH59499NoOther/MiscImage: Control of the second	HNEf16		98	No			
HNEf199999YesHNEf2098NoV583No (control)DS1698NoMMH59499NoOther/MiscImage: Control (Control)OG1RFNoFly1Yes (control)Values represent percentage of alignment with control strain.	HNEf17	99	98	Yes			
HNEf2098NoV583No (control)DS1698MMH59499Other/Misc00OG1RFNoFly1Yes (control)Values represent percentage of alignment with control strain.	HNEf18	99	99	Yes			
V583No (control)DS1698NoMMH59499NoOther/Misc0000OG1RFNo100Fly1Yes (control)Values represent percentage of alignment with control strain.	HNEf19	99	99	Yes			
DS1698NoMMH59499NoOther/Misc00OG1RFNoFly1Yes (control)Values represent percentage of alignment with control strain.	HNEf20		98	No			
DS1698NoMMH59499NoOther/Misc99NoOG1RFNoFly1Yes (control)Values represent percentage of alignment with control strain.	V583			No (control)			
Other/MiscNoOG1RFNoFly1Yes (control)Values represent percentage of alignment with control strain.	DS16		98				
OG1RFNoFly1Yes (control)Values represent percentage of alignment with control strain.	MMH594		99	No			
Fly1Yes (control)Values represent percentage of alignment with control strain.	Other/Misc						
Fly1Yes (control)Values represent percentage of alignment with control strain.	OG1RF			No			
	Fly1			Yes (control)			
		t percentage of	f alignment wit				

Appendix 7. Journal of Endodontics publication

Burley KM, Sedgley CM. CRISPR-Cas, a prokaryotic adaptive immune system, in endodontic, oral, and multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired Enterococcus faecalis. Journal of Endodontics 2012 Nov;38:1511-5.

CRISPR-Cas, a Prokaryotic Adaptive Immune System, in Endodontic, Oral, and Multidrug-resistant Hospital-acquired *Enterococcus faecalis*

Katie M. Burley, BSDH, DMD, and Christine M. Sedgley, MDS, MDSc, PhD

Abstract

Introduction: Microorganisms are vulnerable to invasion by mobile genetic elements such as viruses, plasmids, and transposons. The recently discovered Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats (CRISPR)-associated system, or CRISPR-Cas, is an adaptive immunity system found in most archaea and many bacteria that targets and inactivates invading foreign genetic elements. Cells with CRISPR-cas are more likely to resist the invasion and uptake of foreign DNA such as viruses, plasmids, and transposons. The aims of this study were to (1) compare the occurrence of CRISPR-cas in collections of endodontic (n = 34), oral (n = 21), and multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired strains of *Enterococcus faecalis* (n = 23) and (2) evaluate the distribution of antibiotic resistance and virulence traits among strains without CRISPR-cas. Methods: E. faecalis strains were screened for CRISPR1-cas and CRISPR3-cas by using polymerase chain reaction, and products were verified by DNA sequencing. Associations were investigated between the occurrence of CRISPR-cas and the expression of phenotypic traits (antibiotic resistance, gelatinase activity, bacteriocin production, hemolysin activity, and clumping response to pheromone). Results: CRISPRcas determinants were present in proportionally more endodontic (25 of 34) and oral (15 of 21) strains than hospital-acquired (9 of 23) strains (P = .01 and .04, respectively). Significant associations were found between the absence of CRISPR-cas and the presence of antibiotic resistance in strains overall (P = .04) and bacteriocin activity in endodontic strains (P = .01). Conclusions: Evidence for the presence of CRISPRcas in the majority of endodontic and oral E. faecalis strains raises intriguing questions as to how prokaryotic immune systems might modulate interactions within the polymicrobial endodontic biofilm environment. (J Endod 2012;38:1511-1515)

Key Words

CRISPR-*cas*, endodontic, *Enterococcus faecalis*, multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired bacteria, oral

E*interococcus faecalis* are facultative gram-positive cocci that are widely distributed in nature, animals, and humans. *E. faecalis* are frequently recovered from previously treated root canals (1, 2) and occasionally from the oral flora (3, 4). Although *E. faecalis* can survive for extended periods in the nutrient-deprived obturated root canal system *ex vivo* (5), whether *E. faecalis* can "cause" periradicular infections has not been established. In an effort to address this question, previous studies have shown that *E. faecalis* strains recovered from infected root canals can express different virulence factors (6, 7) and exchange DNA as evidenced by the transfer of antibiotic resistance genes between *E. faecalis* JH2-2 and *Streptococcus gordonii* Challis-Sm in root canals *ex vivo* (8). These data suggest a capacity for the species to modulate virulence expression and antibiotic resistance acquisition under varying environmental conditions in the root canal system and may help to explain the recovery of *E. faecalis* from both symptomatic and asymptomatic cases (9).

In contradistinction, the importance of the host's immunity in response to bacterial challenge is well established. For example, small numbers of virulent microorganisms may be sufficient to cause disease in an immunocompromised host (10). In a novel twist, the "health" of a microorganism is also dependent on the presence of its own protective "immune" system. Specifically, the recently discovered Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats (CRISPRs) and genes encoding CRISPR-associated (Cas) proteins, or CRISPR-Cas module, are a prokaryotic immune system widespread among archaea and bacteria that confers resistance to exogenous mobile genetic elements such as viruses (phages), plasmids, and transposons (11–13). Although considerable diversity exists between the many different CRISPR-Cas systems, they are characterized by a CRISPR locus made up of a varying number of repeating segments (14). Each repeating segment has the necessary DNA sequence required to target a different invader. CRISPR-Cas systems are primarily located on the chromosome but can also be found on plasmids. They function over 3 stages: adaptation, expression, and interference (13). During the first stage, CRISPR-Cas proteins incorporate a small fragment (termed a spacer) of a foreign genetic element into the repeating CRISPR locus. In the second stage, an RNA transcript of the CRISPR locus is processed to form small CRISPR RNAs (crRNAs), each of which can identify a specific target. At the third stage, on reexposure to the specific foreign genetic element, the crRNA and CRISPR-Cas proteins target and cleave the invading DNA or RNA (12, 13).

From the Department of Endodontology, School of Dentistry, Oregon Health and Science University, Portland, Oregon.

Supported by a Research Grant from the American Association of Endodontics Foundation and the OHSU Department of Endodontology Les Morgan Endowment Fund.

Address requests for reprints to Dr Christine M. Sedgley, Department of Endodontology, School of Dentistry, Oregon Health and Science University, 611 SW Campus Drive, Portland, OR 97239. E-mail address: sedgley@ohsu.edu

^{0099-2399/\$ -} see front matter

Copyright o 2012 American Association of Endodontists. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.joen.2012.07.004

Basic Research—Biology

Several CRISPR-*cas* systems have been identified in prokaryotes, including CRISPR1-*cas* and CRISPR3-*cas* in *E. faecalis* isolates recovered from human, animal, insect, and environmental sources (15–17). Two CRISPR loci were first identified in the *E. faecalis* OG1RF genome: CRISPR1-*cas*, which has the associated *cas* gene, and CRISPR2, which is an orphan locus lacking the functional *cas* genes (15). Subsequently, CRISPR3-*cas* was identified in 2 strains (17), a fruit fly isolate Fly1 (18) and a urine isolate (17). CRISPR-*cas* has since been identified in one third of 48*E. faecalis* strains recovered from a variety of sources, all but 1 being CRISPR1-*cas* (17), and in 18 of 52 *E. faecalis* strains recovered from (predominantly) clinical, food, and environmental sources, all but 2 being CRISPR1-*cas* (16). Recently, the absence of CRISPR-*cas* in *E. faecalis* was positively correlated with acquired multidrug-resistance genes (17), which are often found on mobile genetic elements such as plasmids (19, 20).

The occurrence of the CRISPR-*cas* in the endodontic and oral microflora has not been previously evaluated. The first aim of this study was to compare the occurrence of CRISPR-*cas* in collections of endodontic and oral strains and multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired strains of *E. faecalis*; the null hypothesis tested was that there is no difference in occurrence between groups. Because the absence of CRISPR-*cas* could indicate previous uptake of foreign DNA (eg, via horizontal transfer of plasmids encoding virulence and/or antibiotic resistance genes), the second aim was to evaluate the distribution of virulence traits and antibiotic resistance among strains without CRISPR-*cas*.

Materials and Methods Bacterial Strains and Phenotypic Characterization

E. faecalis strains and their sources are listed in Table 1. Strains were taken from -80° C stocks and plated onto Todd Hewitt broth (Becton, Dickinson and Co, Sparks, MD) supplemented with 1.5% agar and incubated aerobically at 37°C for 24 hours. For each strain, expected colony formation, cell morphology, esculin hydrolysis, and Gram stain reaction were confirmed. The 16S rRNA polymerase chain reaction (PCR) assays were performed for all strains to verify species-specific amplification as previously described (3). Hospital-acquired strains (n = 23) were screened for antibiotic resistance, gelatinase activity, bacteriocin production, hemolysin activity, and clumping response to pheromone by using methods previously described (6);

endodontic (n = 34) and oral (n = 21) strains have been previously screened for these traits (3, 4, 6, 21).

Total DNA Extraction, PCR Amplification, and Sequencing

Total DNA was isolated as previously described (3) and resuspended in sterile nuclease-free water to a final stock concentration of 50 ng/µL. Primer sequences for *E. faecalis* CRISPR1-cas cas1 were forward: 5'-ATG GGC TGG CGA ACG GTA GTG GTT A-3', reverse: 5'-TCA TAT CCC AAA CTC TGG AAC TCC T-3' for an expected 867 basepair product. Primer sequences for CRISPR3-cas csn1 were forward: 5'-GCT GAA TCT GTG AAG TTA CTC-3', reverse: 5'-CTG TTT TGT TCA CCG TTG GAT-3' for an expected 258 base-pair product (17). To verify the absence of false-negative PCR results, those strains without CRISPR1-cas PCR products were screened by using primers that anneal outside the CRISPR1-cas loci: forward: 5'-GCG ATG TTA GCT GAT ACA AC-3', reverse: 5'-CGA ATA TGC CTG TGG TGA AA-3' for an expected 315 base-pair product; those strains without CRISPR3-cas PCR products were screened by using primers that flank the CRISPR3-cas loci: forward: 5'-GAT CAC TAG GTT CAG TTA TTT C-3', reverse: 5'-CAT CGA TTC ATT ATT CCT CCA A-3' for an expected product size of 224 base pairs (17). Control strains used for PCR screening were E. faecalis OG1RF (CRISPR1-cas present), Fly-1 (CRISPR3-cas present), and V583 (CRISPR1-cas and CRISPR3-cas absent) (17).

PCR amplifications used an Eppendorf Mastercycler (Brinkmann Instruments, Inc, Westbury, NY). The 100-ng total DNA template was prepared for 50-µL PCR amplifications as follows: 45 µL Platinum PCR SuperMix (High Fidelity; Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) with primers (10 μ mol/L final concentration) and template DNA to a final volume of 50 μ L. The PCR amplification conditions were an initial step of 95°C for 60 seconds, followed by 35 consecutive cycles at 94°C for 20 seconds, 60°C for 30 seconds, and 72°C for 30 seconds. PCR products were stained with SYBR Green (Invitrogen) and analyzed by electrophoresis by using 1.5%–3% agarose gels in tris-borate-ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid buffer and visualized by fluorescence under UV light. Amplified PCR products were correlated with a 100 base-pair ladder (Invitrogen) to confirm conjunction with their expected PCR amplicon size. PCR products were purified with a QIAquick PCR purification column (Qiagen N.V., Venlo, The Netherlands) and submitted for sequencing to the Oregon Health and Science University MMI DNA Services Core (Portland, OR). Nucleotide sequence alignments were compared with the National

TABLE	1.	Bacterial	Strains
-------	----	-----------	---------

Source	Strain name	Reference
Endodontic (n = 34)		
Primary treatment	GS3, GS6, GS7, GS8, GS13, GS18, GS19, GS22, GS24, GS27, GS28, GS31, GS32	6
Orthograde retreatment	GS1, GS2, GS12, GS16, GS25, GS33, ER3/2s, ER5/1	29
Endodontic treatment	GS4, GS5, GS9, GS10, GS14, GS15, GS17, GS21, GS23, GS26, GS29, GS30	6
	JG2	30
Oral (n = 21)		
Tongue swab, endodontic patient	AA-T4, AA-T26	21
5	GS-34	29
Oral rinse, dental student	C1	4
Oral rinse, endodontic patient	E1, E2, E3, E4, E5, E6, E7, E8, E10, E11	4
	OS16, OS25	3
	AA-OR3, AA-OR4, AA-OR26, AA-OR34	21
	OG1	31
Hospital-acquired (n = 23)	HNEfs #1–#20	32
	D\$16	20
	MMH594	33
	V583*	34
Other	OG1RF*	35
	Fly-1*	18

*V583 lacks CRISPR1-cas and CRISPR3-cas; OG1RF encodes CRISPR1-cas; #Fly-1 encodes CRISPR3-cas (17).

Center for Biotechnology Information GenBank database for final verification of amplification by using the online ClustalW2 multiple sequence alignment tool http://www.ebi.ac.uk/Tools/msa/clustalw2/ (22).

Statistical Analysis

Two-tailed Fisher exact tests were used to compare the occurrence of CRISPR-*cas* in endodontic, oral, and hospital-acquired isolates and to evaluate the distribution of antibiotic resistance, gelatinase activity, bacteriocin production, hemolysin activity, and clumping response to pheromone among strains without CRISPR-*cas*. Significance was set at P < .05.

Results

PCR products were available for all strains. The sequenced CRISPR1-*cas* and CRISPR3-*cas* PCR products were 97%–100% identical to the corresponding *E. faecalis* OG1RF and Fly-1 sequences. The sequenced products verifying absence of false-negative PCR results were 94%–100% identical to the corresponding *E. faecalis* V583 sequence.

The occurrence of CRISPR-*cas* in *E. faecalis* isolates is shown in Table 2. Overall, CRISPR1-*cas* or CRISPR3-*cas* determinants were present in proportionally fewer hospital-acquired strains (9 of 23) than endodontic (25 of 34) (P = .01) and oral strains (15 of 21) (P = .04). The CRISPR1-*cas* determinant was present in proportionally fewer endodontic (8 of 34) and hospital-acquired strains (3 of 23) than oral strains (15 of 21) (P = .0007 and P = .0002, respectively), with no difference between endodontic and hospital-acquired strains. The CRISPR3-*cas* determinant was present in proportionally more endodontic strains (20 of 34) compared with hospital-acquired strains (6 of 23) (P = .03) and was not identified in any oral strains. Three endodontic strains had both CRISPR1-*cas* and CRISPR3-*cas*. The remaining endodontic strains were significantly more likely to harbor CRISPR3-*cas* than CRISPR1-*cas* (P = .006), whereas the reverse was true for oral strains (P < .0001). The null hypothesis was rejected.

Phenotypic characteristics of multidrug-resistant hospitalacquired strains are shown in Table 3; these characteristics for endodontic and oral strains are reported elsewhere (3, 4, 6, 21). Overall, a significant association was found between the absence of either CRISPR1-*cas* or CRISPR3-*cas* and the presence of antibiotic resistance (P = .04), as shown in Table 4. Other significant associations were found between the absence of CRISPR1-*cas* and the absence of hemolysin activity (P = .01) and between the absence of CRISPR3*cas* and presence of gelatinase activity (P = .005), bacteriocin activity (P = .02), and antibiotic resistance (P = .0009). In endodontic strains, significant associations were found between the absence of both CRISPR-*cas* determinants and the presence of bacteriocin activity (P = .02), between the absence of CRISPR1-*cas* and the presence of a clumping response to pheromone (P = .03), and between the absence of CRISPR3-*cas* and the presence of bacteriocin activity (P = .03). Within oral and hospital-acquired subgroups, no significant associations were found (data not shown).

Discussion

Microorganisms are vulnerable to invasion by mobile genetic elements such as viruses, plasmids, and transposons. CRISPR-Cas systems are highly adaptive immune systems present in most archaea and many bacteria that provide intracellular protection against these invading genetic elements (13, 23). In this study endodontic and oral *E. faecalis* strains were significantly more likely to possess CRISPR-*cas* determinants than multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired strains. Interestingly, and for reasons that are not clear, the majority of endodontic strains were more likely to harbor CRISPR3-*cas* than CRISPR1-*cas*, and no CRISPR3-*cas* were detected in oral strains. The majority of the endodontic strains were obtained from dental patients in Sweden in 1994–1995, whereas all other strains came from patients in the United States in 2002–2004.

There was a significant association between the absence of CRISPR-*cas* and the presence of antibiotic resistance (Table 4). Similarly, Palmer and Gilmore (17) reported that a lack of CRISPR-*cas* was positively associated with multidrug antibiotic resistance and suggested that antibiotic therapy inadvertently selects for enterococci with compromised genome defense. In the present study 21 of the 23 multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired strains were vancomycin resistance was the most common (n = 19 strains), with multiple antibiotic resistance present in only 1 endodontic and 6 oral strains (3, 4, 6, 21). Tetracycline resistance encoded on conjugative transposons is highly transferrable in *E. faecalis* (24). Our data showing that 14 of the 19 tetracycline-resistant endodontic and oral strains possessed either CRISPR1-*cas* or CRISPR3-*cas* support previous speculation that conjugative transposons may evade the CRISPR-*cas* system (17).

Virulence factors with the potential to promote adaptation and survival in different environments have been identified in enterococci recovered from infected root canals (6, 7). Of 31 *E. faecalis* strains from infected root canals, potential virulence traits expressed included production of gelatinase by 23 strains and production of aggregation substance by 16 strains in response to pheromones in *E. faecalis* culture filtrate (6). A clumping response to pheromone indicates the production of aggregation substance and the potential for conjugative horizontal gene transfer (19). *E. faecalis* can harbor transferable high-level antibiotic resistance and virulence determinants carried on plasmids (19, 25). Therefore, it was of interest to determine

	CRISPR1- <i>cas</i> or CRISPR3- <i>cas</i> [†]		CRISPR1-cas [‡]		CRISPR3-cas [§]		CRISPR1-cas and CRISPR3-cas	
Source	Present	Absent	Present	Absent	Present	Absent	Present	Absent
Endodontic (n = 34)	25	9	8	26	20	14	3	9
Oral (n = 21)	15	6	15	6	0	21	0	6
Hospital-acquired (n = 23)	9	14	3	20	6	17	0	14

TABLE 2. Occurrence of CRISPR-cas in E. faecalis*

*CRISPR1-cas is present in strains GS1, GS9, GS10, GS16, GS19, GS25, GS30, GS31, E1, E4, E8, E11, E12, OS16, OS25, AA-OR3, AA-OR4, AA-OR26, AA-OR34, AA-T26, GS34, OG1, HNEf2, HNEf2, and DS16. CRISPR3-cas is present in strains GS3, GS4, GS5, GS6, GS7, GS8, GS9, GS10, GS12, GS13, GS14, GS15, GS16, GS17, GS21, GS22, GS24, GS26, GS27, GS32, and HNEf7, HNEf14, HNEf15, HNEf17, HNEf18, HNEf19. Both CRISPR1-cas are present in strains GS9, GS10, GS10, GS10, GS10, GS10, GS16, GS17, GS16, GS17, GS21, GS22, GS24, GS26, GS27, GS32, and HNEf7, HNEf14, HNEf15, HNEf17, HNEf18, HNEf19.

[†]Absent in more hospital-acquired than endodontic (P = .01) and oral (P = .04) strains.

[‡]Absent in more endodontic and hospital-acquired than oral strains (P = .0007 and P = .0002, respectively).

[§]Absent in more oral than endodontic and hospital-acquired strains (P < .0001 and P = .0002, respectively) with a significant difference between endodontic and hospital-acquired strains (P = .03).

				Phenotype	
Strain*	Gelatinase	Bacteriocin	Hemolysin	Pheromone response [†]	Antibiotic resistance [‡]
HNEf1	+	+	_	_	Va, Fu, Tc, Em, Km, Cm, Gm
HNEf2	+	_	_	+	Va, Fu, Tc, Sm, Em, Km, Cm, Gm
HNEf3	_	_	_	_	Va, Fu, Sm, Em, Km, Cm, AM, Gm, Rf, Pg
HNEf4	_	_	_	_	Va, Fu, Em, Km, Cm, Gm
HNEf5	+	+	_	_	Va, Fu, Em, Km, Cm, Gm, Pg
HNEf6	+	_	_	_	Va, Fu, Tc, Em, Km, Cm, Gm
HNEf7	+	+	_	_	Va, Fu, Sm, Em, Km, Cm, Gm
HNEf8	+	+	_	_	Va, Fu, Tc, Sm, Em, Km, Cm, Gm
HNEf9	_	+	_	_	Va, Fu, Em, Km, Cm, Gm
HNEfl0	+	_	_	_	Va, Fu, Sm, Em, Km, Cm, Gm
HNEf11	_	_	_	_	Va, Fu, Sm, Em, Km, Cm, Gm
HNEfl2	+	_	_	_	Va, Fu, Sm, Em, Km, Cm, Gm, Pg
HNEfl3	+	+	_	+	Va, Fu, Sm, Em, Km, Cm, Gm
HNEfl4	_	_	+	_	Va, Fu, Sm, Em, Km, Cm, AM, Gm, Pg
HNEfl5	+	_	_	_	Va, Fu, Sm, Em, Km, Cm, Gm
HNEf16	+	+	_	+	Va, Fu, Sm, Em, Km, Cm, Gm
HNEfl7	+	-	_	+	Va, Fu, Sm, Em, Km, Cl, Cm, Gm
HNEfl8	+	+	_	+	Va, Fu, Sm, Em, Km, Cl, Cm, Gm, Rf
HNEfl9	+	+	_	+	Va, Fu, Sm, Em, Km, Cl, Cm, Gm
HNEf20	+	_	_	+	Va, Fu, Sm, Em, Km, Cm, Gm
DS16	+	+	+	+	Fu, Tc, Sm, Em, Km, Cm
MMH594	+	+	+	+	Fu, Em, Km, Cl, Cm, Gm, Pg
V583	+	_	_	-	Va, Fu, Em, Km, Cm, Gm

TABLE 3. Phenotypic Characteristics of Multidrug-resistant Hospital-acquired E. faecalis

*CRISPR1-cas is present in HNEf2, HNEf3, and DS16. CRISPR3-cas is present in HNEf7, HNEf15, and HNEf17-HNEf19.

[†]Positive control *E. faecalis* strains for pheromone tests were OG1X/pAM373, OGISS/pCF10, 39-5 (harboring pPD1), and OG1X/pPAD1.

⁴Minimum inhibitory concentrations determined by using E-test (AB Biodisk, Solna, Sweden). Antibiotics tested were ampicillin (Am), benzylpenicillin (Pg), chloramphenicol (Cm), clindamycin (CI), erythromycin (Em), fusidic acid (Fu), gentamicin (Gm), rifampin (Rf), streptomycin (Sm), tetracycline (Tc), and vancomycin (Va).

whether an association exists between the absence of CRISPR-*cas* and the presence of virulence traits in endodontic strains. In this study 15 of those isolates that exhibited a clumping response to pheromone also lacked the CRISPR1-*cas* determinant (P = .03), but 9 of those strains possessed CRISPR3-*cas*, suggesting no association.

Bacteriocins are antimicrobial proteins or peptides produced by many strains of gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria and can be bactericidal to other members of the same species (narrow spectrum) or across genera (broad spectrum). The production of a bacteriocin can provide the producer strain with a selective advantage over other strains, especially those closely related to the bacteriocin-producing strain (26). Lindenstrauss et al (16) found a significant association between the absence of CRISPR-*cas* and the presence of the cytolysin operon (which encodes hemolysin and bacteriocin activity) in

TABLE 4.	Associations between	Phenotypic	Characteristics and	Occurrence of	CRISPR-cas in E.	faecalis

		CRISPR1-cas			CRISPR3-cas			CRISPR1-cas or CRISPR3-cas		
	Present	Absent	P value	Present	Absent	P value	Present	Absent	<i>P</i> value	
All strains (n	= 78)									
Antibiotic re	sistance									
Present	17	28	NS	6	39	.0009	20	25	.04	
Absent	9	24		16	17		23	10		
Gelatinase a	ctivity									
Present	13	36	NS	19	29	.005	27	21	NS	
Absent	13	16		3	27		16	14		
Bacteriocin a	activity									
Present	12	22	NS	5	29	.02	16	18	NS	
Absent	14	30		17	27		27	17		
Pheromone	response									
Present	. 8	22	NS	10	22	NS	20	10	NS	
Absent	18	30		12	34		28	10		
Hemolysin a	ctivity									
Present	7	3	.01	0	10	NS	7	3	NS	
Absent	19	49		22	46		36	32		
Endodontic	strains (n = 34)								
Bacteriocin a										
Present	3	10	NS	4	9	.03	6	7 3	.02	
Absent	5	16		15	6		18	3		
Pheromone	response									
Present	1	15	.03	9	7	NS	10	6	NS	
Absent	7	11		10	8		14	4		

NS, not significant.

E. faecalis strains recovered from predominantly clinical sources. Similarly, in this study endodontic strains lacking CRISPR-*cas* were more likely to demonstrate bacteriocin activity.

Details are rapidly emerging about the acquisition, mechanisms, and dynamic evolution of the various CRISPR-Cas immune systems and their associated genes (12, 13, 27). From a clinical perspective the absence of a CRISPR-Cas immunity system might facilitate cell survival under certain conditions, eg, by allowing uptake of antibiotic resistance genes in an antibiotic environment, but could also render the cell more vulnerable to attack by other selfish genetic elements (eg, phages). Conversely, possession of a functional CRISPR-Cas system might facilitate survival by way of stabilizing the genome, while allowing the cell to acquire information about the external environment via foreign DNA, integrate this information into the genome, and subsequently pass it on to progeny (27).

It has been proposed that the possession of virulence traits that can be encoded on mobile elements capable of horizontal gene transfer (HGT) might provide a selective advantage over other species in the infected root canal (8). No information directly pertaining to the root canal or oral environment, or specifically to *E. faecalis*, could be found about selective forces for the acquisition of CRISPR-*cas*. However, an analysis of 370 other prokaryotic genomes concluded that there was strong evidence for the propagation of CRISPR-*cas* genes to occur via HGT (28). Clinically, to what extent microbial cells residing in a root canal or oral biofilm participate in HGT of CRISPR-*cas* genes remains to be established.

In conclusion, the present study is the first to investigate CRISPRcas in isolates recovered from infected root canals. Evidence for the presence of CRISPR-cas in the majority of endodontic and oral *E. faecalis* strains raises intriguing questions as to how prokaryotic immune systems might modulate interactions within the polymicrobial endodontic biofilm environment, particularly in response to antimicrobial agents used in root canal treatment. Understanding this process could lead to improved therapeutic strategies in the future.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Mike Gilmore for providing E. faecalis Fly-1 and Jarid Burley and Tina Nguyen for their assistance. The authors deny any conflicts of interest related to this study.

References

- Sedgley C, Nagel A, Dahlen G, et al. Real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction and culture analyses of *Enterococcus faecalis* in root canals. J Endod 2006;32: 173–7.
- Rocas IN, Siqueira JF Jr, Santos KR. Association of *Enterococcus faecalis* with different forms of periradicular diseases. J Endod 2004;30:315–20.
- Sedgley CM, Nagel AC, Shelburne CE, et al. Quantitative real-time PCR detection of oral *Enterococcus faecalis* in humans. Arch Oral Biol 2005;50:575–83.
- Sedgley CM, Lennan SL, Clewell DB. Prevalence, phenotype and genotype of oral enterococci. Oral Microbiol Immunol 2004;19:95–101.
- Sedgley CM, Lennan SL, Appelbe OK. Survival of *Enterococcus faecalis* in root canals ex vivo. Int Endod J 2005;38:735–42.
- Sedgley CM, Molander A, Flannagan SE, et al. Virulence, phenotype and genotype characteristics of endodontic *Enterococcus* spp. Oral Microbiol Immunol 2005; 20:10–9.
- Reynaud Af Geijersstam A, Culak R, Molenaar L, et al. Comparative analysis of virulence determinants and mass spectral profiles of Finnish and Lithuanian endodontic *Enterococcus faecalis* isolates. Oral Microbiol Immunol 2007;22:87–94.

- Sedgley CM, Lee EH, Martin MJ, et al. Antibiotic resistance gene transfer between *Streptococcus gordonii* and *Enterococcus faecalis* in root canals of teeth *ex vivo*. J Endod 2008;34:570–4.
- Molander A, Reit C, Dahlen G, et al. Microbiological status of root-filled teeth with apical periodontitis. Int Endod J 1998;31:1–7.
- Casadevall A, Pirofski L. Host-pathogen interactions: the attributes of virulence. J Infect Dis 2001;184:337–44.
- Barrangou R, Fremaux C, Deveau H, et al. CRISPR provides acquired resistance against viruses in prokaryotes. Science 2007;315:1709–12.
- Terns MP, Terns RM. CRISPR-based adaptive immune systems. Curr Opin Microbiol 2011;14:321–7.
- Makarova KS, Haft DH, Barrangou R, et al. Evolution and classification of the CRISPR-Cas systems. Nat Rev Microbiol 2011;9:467–77.
- Haft DH, Selengut J, Mongodin EF, et al. A guild of 45 CRISPR-associated (Cas) protein families and multiple CRISPR/Cas subtypes exist in prokaryotic genomes. PLoS Comput Biol 2005;1:474–83.
- Bourgogne A, Garsin DA, Qin X, et al. Large scale variation in *Enterococcus faecalis* illustrated by the genome analysis of strain OG1RF. Genome Biol 2008;9:R110.
- 16. Lindenstrauss AG, Pavlovic M, Bringmann A, et al. Comparison of genotypic and phenotypic cluster analyses of virulence determinants and possible role of CRISPR elements towards their incidence in *Enterococcus faecalis* and *Enterococcus faecuum*. Syst Appl Microbiol 2011;34:553–60.
- Palmer KL, Gilmore MS. Multidrug-resistant Enterococci lack CRISPR-cas. MBio 2010;1:1–10.
- Palmer KL, Carniol K, Manson JM, et al. High-quality draft genome sequences of 28 *Enterococcus* sp. isolates. J Bacteriol 2010;192:2469–70.
- Clewell DB, Francia MV. Conjugation in gram-positive bacteria. In: Funnell BE, Phillips GJ, eds. Plasmid biology. Washington, DC: ASM Press; 2004:227–56.
- Tomich PK, An FY, Damle SP, et al. Plasmid-related transmissibility and multiple drug resistance in *Streptococcus faecalis* subsp. *zymogenes* strain DS16. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1979;15:828–30.
- Sedgley C, Buck G, Appelbe O. Prevalence of *Enterococcus faecalis* at multiple oral sites in endodontic patients using culture and PCR. J Endod 2006;32:104–9.
- Chenna R, Sugawara H, Koike T, et al. Multiple sequence alignment with the Clustal series of programs. Nucleic Acids Res 2003;31:3497–500.
- Koonin EV, Makarova KS. CRISPR-Cas: an adaptive immunity system in prokaryotes. F1000 Biol Rep 2009;1:95.
- Clewell DB, Flannagan SE, Jaworski DD. Unconstrained bacterial promiscuity: the Tn916-Tn1545 family of conjugative transposons. Trends Microbiol 1995;3: 229–36.
- Weigel LM, Clewell DB, Gill SR, et al. Genetic analysis of a high-level vancomycinresistant isolate of *Staphylococcus aureus*. Science 2003;302:1569–71.
- Tomita H, Fujimoto S, Tanimoto K, et al. Cloning and genetic and sequence analyses of the bacteriocin 21 determinant encoded on the *Enterococcus faecalis* pheromone-responsive conjugative plasmid pPD1. J Bacteriol 1997;179: 7843–55.
- Takeuchi N, Wolf YI, Makarova KS, et al. Nature and intensity of selection pressure on CRISPR-associated genes. J Bacteriol 2012;194:1216–25.
- Godde JS, Bickerton A. The repetitive DNA elements called CRISPRs and their associated genes: evidence of horizontal transfer among prokaryotes. J Mol Evol 2006; 62:718–29.
- Johnson EM, Flannagan SE, Sedgley CM. Coaggregation interactions between oral and endodontic *Enterococcus faecalis* and bacterial species isolated from persistent apical periodontitis. J Endod 2006;32:946–50.
- Goldstein J, McKinney R. Development of a periapical infection in the presence of antibiotic therapy. J Endod 1981;7:89–91.
- Gold OG, Jordan HV, van Houte J. The prevalence of enterococci in the human mouth and their pathogenicity in animal models. Arch Oral Biol 1975;20:473–7.
- Hwang YC, Flannagan SE, Clewell DB, et al. Bacteriocin-related siblicide in clinical isolates of enterococci. Probiotics Antimicrob Proteins 2011;3:57–61.
- Shankar V, Baghdayan AS, Huycke MM, et al. Infection-derived *Enterococcus faecalis* strains are enriched in *esp*, a gene encoding a novel surface protein. Infect Immun 1999;67:193–200.
- Sahm DF, Kissinger J, Gilmore MS, et al. In vitro susceptibility studies of vancomycinresistant *Enterococcus faecalis*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1989;33:1588–91.
- Oliver DR, Brown BL, Clewell DB. Analysis of plasmid deoxyribonucleic acid in a cariogenic strain of *Streptococcus faecalis*: an approach to identifying genetic determinants on cryptic plasmids. J Bacteriol 1977;130:759–65.

The Oregon Health & Science University School of Dentistry

Master of Science in Endodontology Data Sheet

Name Katie M. Burley

Degree Sought <u>MS in Endodontology</u>

Major <u>Endodontology</u>

Date of Graduation <u>June 2013</u>

Permanent Home Address: <u>10833 SW 64th Ave, Portland, OR 97219</u>

Exact Title of Thesis:

<u>CRISPR-cas</u>, a prokaryotic adaptive immune system, in endodontic, oral and multidrugresistant hospital-acquired *Enterococcus faecalis*

Special Field of the Thesis:

Microbiology

Total Number of Pages: 58

Number of Illustrations 15

Previous Degrees

BSDH Oregon Health & Science University 2002

Degree Name of University Year

DMD Oregon Health & Science University 2008

Degree Name of University Year

Dr. Christine Sedgley

Chair, Thesis Committee

Brief Summary of Thesis: This study compared the occurrence of CRISPR-*cas* in collections of endodontic, oral strains, and multidrug-resistant hospital-acquired strains of *E*. *faecalis* and evaluated the distribution of virulence traits and antibiotic resistance among strains without CRISPR-*cas*.